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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited consolidated
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Our Group's turnover decreased from approximately HK$763.8
million in 2021 to approximately HK$743.6 million in 2022,
representing a decrease of approximately 2.6%. Gross profit was
approximately HK$180.8 million in 2022, representing an
increase of approximately 26.4% from that of 2021. Profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
approximately HK$94.3 million in 2022, representing an increase
of approximately 104.1% from that of 2021. The increase in net
profit was primarily due to the recovery of certain surging
material costs from certain clients and the increase in net foreign
exchange revenue mainly driven by the appreciation of USD
against RMB.

Printed circuit board (the “"PCB"”) is the bridge that carries
electronic components and connects to the circuit. Therefore,
many people describe PCB as the “the mother of electronic
products”. It is widely used in the fields of communication
electronics, consumer electronics, computers, automotive
electronics, industrial controller, medical devices, national
defense and aerospace, etc. It is everywhere around modern
electronic world. Due to the wide market of downstream
consumers of PCB products, this industry is less affected as
compared to other industries with a single downstream industry,
and the total output value of the global PCB industry is mainly
closely related to the macroeconomic conditions.

Year 2022 is complicated. Tension around the global has been
intensified by geopolitical issues. The unexpected and recurring
pandemic impacts people’s livelihood and the economy. Logistics
and the people flow are not smooth. Recruitment is difficult, and
talent acquisition is even harder. Disruptions to the supply chain
and the backlog of land, sea and air transport lead to the
increase in production costs of producers.

Nonetheless, the PCB industry is a substantially stable business
segment which is only slightly affected by the negative factors of
the overall situation. The range of application of PCBs is
extensive, including but not limited to 4C products, Internet-of-
Things, autonomous cars, big data as well as automobile
electronics and electrification. The development of each mode of
application will drive the demand for PCBs.
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Chairman’s Statement

EE®E

The amount of corresponding equipment and devices associated
with the rapid development of 5G is enormous, thus creating
tremendous business opportunities. Automobile electronics and
electrification involves utilization of a considerable amount of
circuit boards. The utilization of circuit boards in new energy
vehicles exceeds that of conventional vehicles by several times.
The demand for 4C products remains steady. These factors are
favorable to the future development of the electronic circuit
industry.

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere gratitude to all fellow Directors, management and
our staff for their unwavering dedication and contribution to our
Group’s development. | would also like to thank all of our
shareholders, for their trust and continuous support over a
challenging but rewarding 2022.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
Chan Wing Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T—-HLEE

Results

E

Revenue Wz

Profit before tax PR A& A

Profit attributable to ordinary equity AAREBERTEA
holders of the Company FE(R & A

Basic earnings per share BRERZF
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AFRBAENLZIR)

Diluted earnings per share GIREE R
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AFRENLTR)

Dividend per share BRRS

(expressed in HK cents per share)

(AZRBEILZIR)

Financial Position

Total assets
Net debts (excluding cash and bank
balances and pledged deposits)

Shareholders’ equity
Net assets per share
(expressed in HK$ per share)
Net debts to total assets
Net debts to shareholders’ equity

BEMAE
FEH(TRERER
RITAERA R B IR
T75K%)
PR s
BiREEFE
(AZRBGETTIIR)
FEBHEERE
FEBE R ER

2022 2021 Change
—E-= —E-—F )
HK$'000 HK$'000 (%)
F#&xT T
743,612 763,836 (2.6)
110,908 65,217 70.1
94,264 46,244 103.8
HK39.3 cents HK19.3 cents
AL AL 103.6
HK39.3 cents HK19.3 cents
AL AL 103.6
HK12.0 cents HK6.0 cents
AL B 100
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2022 2021 Change
=B—- ET —kE ik
HK$'000 HK$'000 (%)
F#&x T
1,058,381 1,077,387 (1.8)
(373,094) (272,432) 36.9
683,398 652,901 4.7
2.85 2.72 4.8
(35.3)% (25.3)% 395
(54.6)% 41.7)% 30.9
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Financial Summary

M E

in HK$'000

FHIT

RESULTS Ed
Revenue Uz

Profit before tax B &% A Vg A
Income tax expense FTisHif s
Profit for the year N A

in HK$'000

FHT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Total assets BERE
Total liabilities B BB
Net assets BESE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=1+—HILLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018
—T-—F —ZB-TF —_T-NF —T-N\F
743,612 763,836 587,133 650,408 766,006
110,908 65,217 50,547 68,056 81,550
(16,644) (18,973) (11,845) (12,155) (23,157)
94,264 46,244 38,702 55,901 58,393

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H

2021 2020 2019 2018
—FT-—F —F-FTF —T-NEFE —F)\F
ANLEETIN 1,077,387 973,162 847,150 939,135
374,983 424,486 366,291 312,298 427,482
683,398 652,901 606,871 534,852 511,653
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The printed circuit board, also known as “PCB”, is mainly
comprised of insulation base materials and conductors. PCBs,
which support and connect electronic devices as they provide
connection between electric components, are components
required to combine a majority of electronic devices with
electronics, machinery, and chemical materials. They are also
given the name of “the mother of electronic products”.

In 2022, global economic activities generally slowed down.
Various countries faced cost of living crisis due to high inflation.
Financial environment of various regions has been contracting.
Russia-Ukraine conflict and the persistence of COVID-19 have
posed severe impacts to the economic outlook. International
Monetary Fund predicted that the global economy will grow by
about 3.4% in 2022. The growth rate, however, is expected to
decrease t0 2.9% in 2023 and slightly increase in 2024.

Despite the threat of unpredictable factors such as geopolitics,
high inflation and high level of inventories, it is estimated that
the global PCB industry will still grow slightly in 2022 with global
output value of approximately US$84.6 billion. PCB market of
5G related equipment, servers, new energy vehicles and the
supply chain of Apple Inc. recorded better performance.
Research institutions predict that global PCB market will grow to
approximately US$101.5 billion in 2026.

The PCB industry has been long established, with its early
presence mainly distributed in Europe, North America, and
Japan. Due to global migration of the electronics sector, Asia
takes the lead in the PCB industry development on the globe.
According to the information available, the output value of PCBs
in the PRC was approximately US$44.2 billion in 2021,
accounting for approximately 54.6% of the global market share.

PCB is a necessary component of electronic products. With
continuous technological advancements, the demand for PCBs is
steady and is expected to grow continuously. The range of
application of PCBs is extensive, including communication
electronics, consumer electronics, computers, automotive
electronics, industrial controller, medical devices, national
defense and aerospace and other fields. In recent years, driven
by the demands of emerging sectors such as 5G technology,
new energy vehicles, Internet-of-Things, big data, cloud
computing, energy conservation and environmental protection,
and information security, good business opportunities will be
maintained in the PCB market.

THEREBE
EDRIBRAIR - XAB [PCB) - EBMBAEMN REHM

BMEEK - PCBREFILMHERNEHRE  £F
FREPEXE TENER REEET  #W -

EIMHEBAZHE
WRIEFEmMmZE] -

REEMUFHTTH » X

T FRREERSERRE  BRENEKF
EREEELDERABE - Z B0 E NS BIRE T

WE BEER FERBEFETE  ELHHLEE
AsEXTEREYE BEREEESABGT =2
ZoERHERRYA34%  —E_=FFETERE
2.9% ' —ZE - NFBEMBEF -

EWEBUR 2Rl  SEGESAIBRANEERE

T —T - —E2HPBEXMANAEMAER
S2IRBEEZEL846EFE T - SGHBEE - IRi5sE
R TE AR BERHEEEPCBMBREARLT - ¥
BEMEHEES T NFE2HRPBMHHEERELN
1,015183 T °

PCBITEEREA  BEFXEHMEBM - 46 - H
AL BMEEREFEXEDR  DMNETB2IPBE
FERE -REBAUSEHNER T —FPEPGBE

B RA42BZETT - B2ERMIBIELAI54.6% o

PCBIEREFEMP TR SR TITH - BEERIBKF
MRS - ERKIBERSHEER  HEMAER

ZE G BETBAET HEET FEK . "EE
T TR B B RMERRFEL -
ATFR > BEESGRIR - FAEIRITE - MEHE - K&

B BHE - HEBR GRRREFEANERG
#5B) - PCB BRI T A o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNmR DN

Automobile electronics has become a global trend, which
promotes the rapid growth of automobile PCBs. PCBs are widely
used in engine, control, safety, information and in-vehicle
systems. Compared with conventional vehicles, the requirement
of electronics for new energy vehicle is higher and the PCB value
of new energy vehicles is approximately 4 times than that of
conventional vehicles. In view of the immense effort in
promoting the development of new energy vehicle by countries
around the world, it shall create tremendous business
opportunities to the PCB market in the future.

The new applications of PCBs will further drive the development
of the PCB industry. The 5G technology deployment will
significantly advance the progress of the PCB industry. There are
approximately 0.654 million newly-built 5G base stations in the
PRC for 2021. As at September 2022, 5G base stations which
have been established and commenced operation amounted to
approximately 2.2 million in total. A research institute estimates
that the output value of PCBs for communications infrastructure
was approximately US$8 billion in 2021 and will reach US$9.2
billion in 2026. With the establishment of a complete 5G
network, it also accelerates the formation of the consumer 5G
electronics industry chain. It is expected that prospect will
emerge in the PCB market.

Although the PCB market has an encouraging prospect, it also
faces numerous difficulties. As the PRC government has
strengthened its efforts on environmental protection,
manufacturing enterprises that fail to meet the requirements will
be subject to rectification, or even replacement or suspension.
As a result, compliant PCB manufacturers are required to
increase investments in environmental engineering and
wastewater treatment capacities, which undoubtedly adds
weight on their operating costs.

The COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, which has spread across
China with worldwide infection, has caused material impact on a
wide range of economic activities. The operation of PCB
manufacturers is inevitably affected. After a long time of three
years, various countries around the globe are moving along the
path to normalcy, yet the PRC has progressed rather slowly in
this regard. In 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic quickly spread
across the PRC, and has been quickly contained. The PRC has
accelerated opening up recently, laying a smooth path towards
global economic recovery.

Against the large-scale capacity expansion launched by many
PCB manufacturers with excess capacity amid a growing number
of new PCB manufacturers in recent years, the market has
eventually become increasingly competitive, with the possibility
of triggering a fierce pricing competition. With the unit price
being adjusted downwards, the slim profit margin will further
shrink.

MEETLERBHME  HFTHEPBREER &
MR ARS  BRUARR  REER  ERELR
BRARERGES - HTHKRTPCBRMT - HLLE
MEVSE R AEHETRENERER @ Mkt
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BIEX D HEFEEIRITENER - AT R ARKPCBTMIS
ORER A

PCBHTIEA B AEABIPCRITERRE » sGRIFEE B K
AHEEPCBEERIHE  — T ——F  HEANMEEF
BGHEMEAN65AEME  HIEE T —_—FNA " &R
KR SGE A 2208 - A EHEMLT &
AR B AR EERNPBE T - —FEBENA
801BFEIL » B T NFBAFERINREFETT - BBE
FEEMSGRMEK  HBEMSGETEEHE TSN
RIEAK - TBEIPCBHEKER —BEXR -

BEPCBHISHEA THMAR - EREEH T LH R
2o BEEPEBTHRERDEMSE  REEFNEE
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—E-EFEYEE2EBECOVID-19 FETHRE
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EREENE—(FR KB TERN=ZF  tHRASH
LEELEFZE MPEEEEZEBESERE  —
T_F  COVID-19BBEFRRREL - REAR
T8 BT E IRFARSK - BRI EE R
ZHEEET D

FEEITF TP PCBRERMARBIIRE - FERBR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

The labor costs in China have been on the rise over the past
decade, as corporate expenditure rises due to full
implementation of policies on social security and public housing
fund. A phenomenon of “recruitment difficulty, labor shortage”
often appears in the developed coastal areas, in which case,
recruitment of frontline employees, particularly seasoned
technicians, becomes increasingly difficult. As a result, many
domestic PCB enterprises gradually relocate their production
bases to inland provinces and cities, or undergo comprehensive
reform to accelerate the process of production automation and
intellectualization to reduce the dependence on manpower and
ensure the stability of quality.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is an original equipment manufacturer (“OEM")
provider of PCBs and focused on the production of quality PCBs,
which meet industrial standards such as IPC Standards, as well as
the customers’ requirements.

We focused on the conventional PCBs with a well-developed
capacity to produce multi-layered and special material PCBs with
primary applications in automobiles, communication equipment,
medical devices, industrial automation equipment and consumer
electronics.

Our continuous diversification of product mix and market
coverage allowed the Group to swiftly cater for the changes in
demand from certain sectors and adjust our production output
accordingly, resulting in reduced reliance on a single product and
market. Benefited from the enormous business opportunities
generated from automobile electronics in recent years, the
proportion of our revenue generated from this section is
correspondingly higher.

Over the past 33 years of our operation, the Group has
established a solid foundation and close relationship with our
customers. The Group provided direct and indirect services to
OEM customers across Asia, Europe, Africa, North America,
South America and Oceania, who are engaged in various
industries with many of them running in a multinational model.
Certain of our major OEM customers are leading players in their
markets. The Group supplied PCB products directly to a number
of leading electronic manufacturing service providers, in order to
assemble finished goods of OEM for the Group’s indirect OEM
customers. To date, the Group has built up long-term
relationship with major customers, and some of them have been
working with us for over a decade. The Company believed that
these customers also considered the Group as their important
partner for their supply chain. Therefore, our profound and long-
term relationship with customers will enable the Group to know
the trend of customers’ demand more quickly.

TEBEASSHRAEBE TFETE L 2EEMBET
SRENEEAESHRRIENEEOKAE - EibE%
EWELFHRBIE  BIR]I AR BE—R
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) UEREFARFHEE °

B B IREEEESPCB - W ABEES B RIS
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BEFPREMBMETHRESE - AEENRZRE
TEFRERBREE  ERHEPCBER  BENUAB
AEENHEERRFBEATFARRRBREBEK
meies  AEEETIBRPEVRERE  EHAL
DEAREATE MARAREERENEAEESE
HrEgE ENEZRN - Qi BRFPAEVHRER
ABRER - A ARBEERZEREFSFROEMA
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group is of the view that product and process quality are
integral to its business. The Group complies with various
international quality standards and systems, including 1SO9001,
ISO14001 and IATF16949 certifications. The Group has put in
place a number of quality measures and simplification plan to
promote a culture of quality product. Quality is of paramount
importance to the business of the Group and is regularly
reviewed and improved by dedicated personnel to enhance
customer satisfaction. In addition, the Group obtained AS9100
certification in 2009 to qualify for the provision of advanced and
reliable PCBs for the aerospace industry. This is a testament to
our product quality. During 2022, the Group complies with ISO
13485 certification, proving that the Group’s quality
management system complies with the production and sales
requirement of circuit boards for medical equipment.

The high production cost continues to affect the PCB industry in
2022. Followed by the sweep of emission limits and
environmental protection measures across China, PCB
manufacturers are facing steep challenges. As a PCB
manufacturer, the Group needs to formulate appropriate
responses and increase the capital input in respect of
environmental protection resulting in the set-off of part of the
profits of the Group. However, viewing from another
perspective, manufacturers failing to meet the required standards
would be eliminated or would have to enhance their operation
cost in order to comply with the required standards, whereas the
Group has realized the need for environmental protection and
has made relevant investment many years ago. Therefore,
compared with those failing to meet the standards, the Group is
under less pressure in such new setting in the PCB market and
better positioned to seize opportunities.

Although China remains to be the “World Factory”, labor costs
are no longer as low as a decade before and have gradually
increased. In addition, the labor supply is insufficient in the
coastal areas. The Group enhanced its production automation,
promoted the use and flow of production information, optimized
and improved costs and quality which could eventually lead the
Group to develop towards intelligent production in the future.

AEERE  EmAIFNERHEEREBERIER -
AEBEFEZERNRREZERZE - 2151509001
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BReALEET MEHE
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BERBNWmR DN

In 2022, various foreign countries have overcome the COVID-19
crisis. As the overseas market recovers, the demand for
downstream PCB products increases. The Group grasps this
opportunity and maintains its overseas sales. However, domestic
business environment is still under the influence of the
pandemic. During the middle of the year, the pandemic spread
quickly. Fortunately, its spread has been suppressed shortly and
has not caused severe adverse impact to the Group’s domestic
market. Accordingly, the Group's sales remains steady.

In 2022, enterprises which focus on the overseas market are
likely to enjoy foreign exchange gain as the exchange rate of
USD against RMB increases from US$1 to approximately
RMB6.35 in the beginning of the year to US$1 to approximately
RMB7.25 in October. As a certain proportion of the Group's
sales originates from the overseas market, the Group can obtain
a considerable amount of foreign exchange gain.

In 2022, serious challenges exposed the Group to a lot of risks
and uncertainties. The Group has been concentrating on its PCB
business for over 30 years, in which the accumulated experience
and networks allow the Group to make further development in
the PCB market. With the rapid progress of the urbanization in
Shenzhen, the Shenzhen Pingshan District Government has also
made strategic planning for promoting its local development.
Given the increased labor costs in Shenzhen and the need to
maintain competitiveness and respond to the future change in
the planned use of the current production area of Yan Tat
Printed Circuits (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., after consultation with the
Board and the professional advisers, the Group plans to establish
another production base in the Greater Bay Area to support the
long-term development of the Group. Apart from the
headquarters in China and the research and development
department which will remain located in Pingshan District,
Shenzhen, the bulk production capacity of the Group will be
relocated gradually to the new production base. The Group
entered into a cooperation agreement with independent third
parties in relation to the urban renewal project (the “Urban
Renewal Project”) located at the current production area in
Pingshan District, details of which are further particularised in
“Financial Review — Future plans for material investments and
capital assets” below. At the same time, the Group will also
consider opportunities to maximize shareholders’ benefits from
time to time.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW g JEI)
in HK$'000 2021
FET —=—
Turnover BT 763,836
Gross profit EF 142,994
Earnings before interest, taxes, B~ B - TEREHRTAR

depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") ([EBITDAL) 92,743
Net profit Faryy| 46,244

The Group's turnover for the year of 2022 was approximately
HK$743.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
2.6% compared to that of the previous year, which was primarily
attributable to the slight decrease in sales orders from customers
due to the generally slowed-down global economic activities in
2022.

The Group’s gross profit for the year of 2022 was approximately
HK$180.8 million, representing an increase of approximately
26.4% compared to that of the previous year. Gross profit
margin increased by approximately 5.6% to 24.3% from 18.7%.
The increase of gross profit and gross profit margin were mainly
due to reduction in production costs and the recovery of certain
surging material costs from certain clients.

The Group’s total operating expenses for the year of 2022 were
approximately HK$97.3 million, representing an increase of
approximately 1.7% compared to approximately HK$95.7 million
for the previous year, primarily due to the increase in selling and
distribution expenses.

The Group’s EBITDA amounted to approximately HK$138.0
million for the year of 2022 as compared to approximately
HK$92.7 million for the previous year.

The Group recorded a profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$94.3 million for
the year of 2022 as compared to approximately HK$46.2 million
for the previous year.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains increased by approximately HK$9.9
million, or 51.8%, to approximately HK$29.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$19.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to the net
effect of the decrease in income linked to recycling of
approximately HK$1.4 million, and net foreign exchange gain of
approximately HK$10.2 million.
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Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
HK$1.2 million, or 6.6%, to approximately HK$19.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$18.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was
primarily due to increase in commission paid to employees
resulting from the increase in sales orders from certain
customers.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$0.5 million, or 0.6%, to approximately HK$77.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 from approximately HK$77.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was
primarily due to the increase in employee salaries of
approximately HK$0.8 million.

Other expenses

Other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$1.1 million, which was slightly higher than the
amount of approximately HK$0.9 million recorded during the
previous year.

Finance costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$0.4 million, which was similar to the amount
of approximately HK$0.4 million recorded during the previous
year.

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company

The Group recorded profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$94.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 compared to approximately HK$46.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an
increase of approximately 104.1%. The increase of profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
mainly due to the net effect of the increase in gross profit of
approximately HK$37.8 million, the increase in other income and
gains of approximately HK$9.9 million, the increase in selling
and distribution expenses of approximately HK$1.2 million, the
increase in general and administrative expenses of approximately
HK$0.5 million, and the decrease in income tax expense of
approximately HK$2.3 million.
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Property, plant and equipment

The net carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$293.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$53.8 million from that of 31 December 2021.
This was mainly due to the net effect of (i) depreciation of
approximately HK$27.7 million with respect to the Group’s
property, plant and equipment in the current year, (i) exchange
realignment loss of approximately HK$29.8 million due to the
depreciation of RMB against HKD and (iii) total additions during
the year of approximately HK$4.1 million.

Trade and bills receivables

There was a decrease in trade and bills receivables of
approximately HK$44.0 million as at 31 December 2022 as
compared to that as at 31 December 2021, which was mainly
due to the decrease in sales in the fourth quarter of 2022 as
compared to the fourth quarter of 2021.

Trade payables

There was a decrease in trade payables as at 31 December 2022
of approximately HK$34.7 million as compared to that as at 31
December 2021, which was mainly due to the decrease in trade
payables caused by the decrease in purchases in the fourth
quarter of 2022.

Bank and other borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 in the
sum of approximately HK$36.0 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$4.0 million from the sum of approximately
HK$32.0 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase in
borrowings was mainly due to the increased use of trade finance
in the fourth quarter of 2022 as compared to the fourth quarter
of 2021. No financial instruments were used for hedging
purposes, nor were there any foreign currency net investments
hedged by current borrowings and/or other hedging
instruments.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$717.8 million (2021: HK$679.9 million)
including cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits
totalling approximately HK$409.1 million (2021: HK$304.4
million). As at 31 December 2022, the Group had non-current
liabilities of approximately HK$147.0 million (2021: HK$159.2
million), and its current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$228.0 million (2021: HK$265.3 million), consisting mainly of
payables arising in the normal course of operations and bank
borrowings for financing of production facilities. Accordingly,
the Group’s current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, was around 3.1 as at 31 December 2022
(2021: 2.6).
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Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowings
over total equity, was approximately 0.05 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: approximately 0.05).

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year of 2022. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its customers. To manage liquidity risks, the Board
closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to
time.

Foreign exchange exposure

As at 31 December 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade payables,
other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings which are
denominated in currencies other than Hong Kong dollar, and
consequently we have foreign exchange exposure from
translation of amounts denominated in foreign currencies as at
the reporting date. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group did not engage in any derivatives activities and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency exposure.

Capital structure

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company during the current and previous years. The capital of
the Company is comprised of ordinary shares and capital
reserves.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022, capital commitments of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$0.8 million (2021: HK$1.6
million).

Dividend

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK12.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: HK6.0 cents per share).

The proposed dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting to be held on
Friday, 2 June 2023 and, if approved, is expected to be paid on
or about Thursday, 6 July 2023 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 14 June 2023. The dividend is declared and will be
paid in HKD.
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Dividend Policy

The Board regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to
ensure an optimal capital structure and shareholders’ return
when its dividend policy considers:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
o retained profits and distributable reserves of the Group;

o return on equity and other corresponding restrictions of
the Group;

o the Group's capital requirement and surplus;
o the Group'’s liquidity position;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business, financial results and position of
the Company; and

. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continue to review the Group's dividend policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under
the applicable laws and the Company’s Articles of Association.

Closure of the Register of Members

To determine the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM")
to be held on Friday, 2 June 2023, the register of members will
be closed from Tuesday, 30 May 2023 to Friday, 2 June 2023,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 May 2023.

In addition, to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the
dividend, the register of members will be closed from Monday,
12 June 2023 to Wednesday, 14 June 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for the entitlements to the dividend, all
completed transfers documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/
F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on Friday, 9 June 2023.
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Information on employees

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 696 employees (2021:
766 employees), including the executive Directors. Total
employee benefit expense (including Directors’ remuneration)
was approximately HK$104.2 million, as compared to
approximately HK$88.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. Remuneration is determined with reference to market
norms and individual employee’s performance, qualification and
experience.

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid with reference to
the Group’s performance as well as the individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits include contributions to the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme in Hong Kong and various welfare plans
including the provision of pension funds, medical insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by our
Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the existing
policy requirements of the local PRC government as well as share
options.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.
The Group also operates a share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 18 November 2014 (“Share Option Scheme”)
where options to subscribe for shares may be granted to the
Directors and employees of the Group.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 52 to 54 of this
annual report.

The Company did not grant any share option under the Share
Option Scheme during the current and prior years. Details of
remuneration of Directors and chief executive and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant investments held
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.
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Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

Other than those disclosed in this annual report, on 8 May 2020,
the Group entered into, amongst others, a cooperation
agreement for the urban renewal project located at our
production base in Pingshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC. The
entering into of the cooperation agreement and the transactions
thereunder have been approved by the shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting on 14 July 2020.
As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 24 June
2022, 14 October 2022 and 1 December 2022, as a result of the
progress of the Urban Renewal Project being slightly affected by
the COVID-19 pandemic, payment schedule of certain payment
installments under the Urban Renewal Project has been
postponed at the request of the counterparty. However, such
payment installments have become due from and payable by the
counterparty, and remain outstanding as at the date of this
annual report. No further agreement has been made between
the parties to further postpone the payment schedule nor the
milestones of the Urban Renewal Project as at the date of this
annual report. The Company is in the course of further following
up with the counterparty on, among other things, the status of
the outstanding payment installments. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 15 May 2020, 14 July
2020, 24 June 2022, 14 October 2022 and 1 December 2022,
and the circular dated 24 June 2020.

Also, the Group is currently exploring the opportunity and
proactively discussing with independent third parties in relation
to the investment of the establishment of a Greater Bay Area
production base for the production of PCBs. The Company will
make further disclosure as and when appropriate pursuant to
the relevant requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”).

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

On 8 May 2020, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with independent third parties on a disposal of
certain parcels of land located in Pingshan New District,
Shenzhen, with certain parcels of the land being used by the
Group for the production of PCB, through disposal of
subsidiaries of the Group and/or disposal of the relevant land
and properties in relation to the Urban Renewal Project. As at
the date of this annual report, as Urban Renewal Approval (3218
5E fX) has not yet been obtained, the disposals have not been
materialised. For further details, please refer to Company’s
announcements dated 15 May 2020, 14 July 2020, 24 June
2022, 14 October 2022 and 1 December 2022, and the circular
dated 24 June 2020.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Charges on assets

As at 31 December 2022, certain assets of the Group as set out
below were charged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group:

(i) investment property of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$6.0 million (2021: HK$6.9 million).

(i)  pledged deposits with banks amounting to approximately
HK$31.5 million (2021: HK$32.1 million).

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Prospects

Looking forward to 2023, underperforming economy, economic
recession, inflation, Ukrainian War and the European energy
crisis may continue. Sluggish demand and high inventory will
continue to affect the world at least during the first half the
year. Optimistically speaking, as the PRC quickly opens up, a
considerable amount of inventory has been consumed. Economic
and consumption demand may recover in the second half of the
year when inflation is slowing down. Economic prospect,
whether optimistic or pessimistic, will directly affect the
development of the PCB industry.

In the past three years, the pandemic and international political
instability led to change in the deployment of global supply
chain. Customers demand risk diversification and enhancement
in PCB productions in regions other than China, thus hindering
the business environment of Chinese production enterprises.

In short, the future challenges will be more severe. Although we
have a diversified market and industry sector, a broad high-
quality customer base, and strong defensiveness, the general
unfavorable environment has a negative impact on the
Company. The Company is closely monitoring external
developments and its own internal customer orders to make
appropriate adjustments accordingly.

Events after reporting period
There were no other significant events from the end of the
reporting period up to the date of this annual report.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENEREERHE

DIRECTORS

Our Board is responsible and has general powers for the
management and conduct of the business. The following table
sets forth information regarding members of the Board as at the
date of this report:

HE

EZ0ABXEBHNERERKE U ER T EiEE
N TREBIIRAHEAREHEZTE@XNENEF :

Name Appointment Date Age
HE ZEBH Fie
Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Chan Wing Yin 8 July 2014 73
BRECE e 4 —ZE-MmELANH

Mrs. Chan Yung 8 July 2014 73
PREZ+ —T-mFELHANB

Mr. Chan Yan Wing 8 July 2014 43
BREK e 4 —ZE-MFE+ANH

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong 1 November 2017 44
BREJ AL —T—+F+—H—H

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming 18 November 2014 75
8 KA A4 —E-mE+—A+N\R

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 18 November 2014 55
ERERIB ST —E-mE+—HA+N\R

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 30 September 2016 72
2182 5% 4 —E-RF¥hA=T1H

CHAIRMAN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (FR¥ %), aged 73, is our chairman,
executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the founder
of the Group and has participated in the management of the
Group since January 1992. Mr. Chan is the director of all our
subsidiaries. Mr. Chan is responsible for the corporate strategic
planning and overall business development of the Group. Mr.
Chan is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung, the father of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong (the non-executive Director) and Mr. Chan Yan
Wing (the executive Director).

Before incorporation of Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited (“YT
Industrial”) in 1992, Mr. Chan was a sole proprietor conducting
business under the name of Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Co. from
September 1989, which was primarily engaged in the
manufacturing of PCBs and which enabled Mr. Chan to acquire
relevant industry knowledge and accumulate relevant experience.
Mr. Chan has more than 32 years of experience in the PCB
production and sales.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENSREEEGRE

Mr. Chan currently serves as the vice chairman of the Fujian
Chamber of Commerce in Shenzhen (EYITEEEF ), the vice
chairman of The Employers’ Federation of Shenzhen (&I
EBEHAE) since September 2004 and currently as the
honorary president of the highest ranking members (= 4% 5l &
B E 2 R) since 2010. Mr. Chan is also currently the vice
chairman of China Printed Circuit Association (FBEN&LE B&1T
#1%2) (CPCA) since March 2010. Mr. Chan was recognised as
"Pioneer Worker” by CPCA in 2012.

Mr. Chan attended his secondary school education in Fujian
province, the PRC from 1962 to 1964.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mrs. Chan Yung (FRE), aged 73, is our executive Director and
vice president. She has participated in the management of the
Group since September 1996. Mrs. Chan is one of the directors
of four of our subsidiaries. Mrs. Chan is responsible for
overseeing the administration, purchasing and logistics of the
Group, corporate strategic planning and overall business
development of the Group. Mrs. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Chan
Wing Yin, and the mother of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and Mr.
Chan Yan Wing.

Mrs. Chan completed her secondary school education in Fujian
province, the PRC in June 1968.

Mr. Chan Yan Wing (FR 2k), aged 43, is our executive
Director and vice president. Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan
Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung, and the brother of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong. Mr. Chan is one of the directors of five of our
subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan has approximately 19 years of experience in the PCB
industry. Mr. Chan joined our Group in July 2003 and is primarily
responsible for overseeing the sales and marketing of the Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from University of London in the United
Kingdom with a bachelor’s degree of science in Management in
August 2002. Since 2016 till now, Mr. Chan was elected as a
member and standing committee member of the Shenzhen
Municipal Pingshan District Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and he has been a member and the
executive director of the Youth Committee of Hong Kong
Printed Circuit Association since January 2013, October 2017
respectively. He has been the vice chairman of the Fujian
Chamber of Commerce in Shenzhen CFIITEEREE) since
January 2012. Since 2019, he has served as the executive
director of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations and
the executive deputy director of the youth committee of the
association. Since 2019, he has served as the deputy secretary of
the Friends of Wuyi. Since 2020, he has served as the vice
chairman of Hong Kong Shenzhen Youth Association. Since
2020, he has served as vice chairman of the Hong Kong Youth
Development Alliance. Since March 2021, he has served as the
vice chairman of Hong Kong Ping Shan Youth Association.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENEREERHE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (BR2.3%), aged 44, is our non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs.
Chan Yung, and the brother of Mr. Chan Yan Wing. Mr. Chan is
one of the directors of seven of our subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan joined our Group in April 2011 and appointed as an
executive Director for the period from July 2014 to October
2017. He was primarily responsible for overseeing factory
expansion, information technology, human resources and
building management of the Group. Since November 2017, he
has been re-designated as a non-executive Director. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Chan worked at Benoy Limited (a private
architectural firm) from June 2006 to March 2011 with his last
position as a senior graphic designer where he was responsible
for coordinating project construction and installation and
architectural design. After his re-designation as non-executive
Director, he continues to advise the Board on operational
strategies of the Group and the furtherance of its business
portfolio. He also continues to develop in the area of project
construction and architectural design.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher diploma in graphic design in Hong
Kong Technical Colleges (currently known as Hong Kong
Institute of Vocational Education) in Hong Kong in September
1999. Mr. Chan then graduated from London College of Printing
(currently known as London College of Communication) in the
United Kingdom in May 2002 and received a bachelor’s degree
of arts in Graphic and Media Design and was awarded a
professional development award in Print Production (Print
Packaging and Buying) in August 2002. He also obtained a
master’s degree in Interactive Digital Media at The University of
Sussex in the United Kingdom in November 2004. Mr. Chan has
been a member of the Youth Committee of Hong Kong Printed
Circuit Association since January 2013.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENSREEEGRE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming (8 £ 8H), aged 75, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 18 November 2014. Mr.
Chung has over 34 years of experience in manufacturing of
motor cars, toys, electronics and communications. Mr. Chung
was the executive director of L.K. Technology Holdings Limited
(stock code: 558) and Kader Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 180). Both companies are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chung obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration in the University of East Asia (currently known as
University of Macau) in the Macau Special Administrative Region
in May 1989. He is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen (£|)E#), aged 72, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 30 September 2016. He
is a retired banker. Mr. Lau held senior positions at the Bank of
East Asia, HSBC and Hang Seng Bank, he has over 37 years of
experience in the banking industry in Hong Kong, China and
Canada. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Hong Kong in July 1973. He was a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (E848#8), aged 55, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 18 November 2014. Mr.
Yau has over 27 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Mr. Yau has been working as financial controller and company
secretary of companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau had also
been working in international accounting firms.

Mr. Yau graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a bachelor’s degree of arts in Accountancy. Mr. Yau is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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EENEREERHE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our executive Directors and senior management are responsible
for the day-to-day management of our business. The following
table sets out certain information concerning our senior
management as at the date of this report:

BREERE

WITESLSREEEAEAREKER - TRET
RABERRERSRERE2ETER

Name Age Positions within the Company

HE FiR REDBRZBIN

Mr. Lai Hau Yin 55  Chief financial officer and company secretary
REZBRE BB EE R A RWME

Mr. Leung Siu Yat 58  Vice president

Rk E Bl4azk

Mr. Ho David Pei Yen 67  Vice president

BIERBREE BB

Mr. Lai Hau Yin (32 8), aged 55, was appointed as our chief
financial officer in March 2014 and our company secretary in
August 2014, and is mainly responsible for overseeing the
financial planning, accounting and company secretarial affairs of
our Group. Mr. Lai has more than 29 years of experience in the
areas of audit and accounting gained from various listed
companies and accounting firm in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lai is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2009, a certified
practising accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants since September 1996.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business from Deakin
University of Australia in Australia in December 1992, a master’s
degree in Business Administration from West Coast Institute of
Management & Technology in Australia in May 2000 (long
distance learning course).

Mr. Leung Siu Yat (R4 #), aged 58, first joined our Group as
a production manager and the vice president in November 2004,
and is mainly responsible for supervising and management of the
PCB factory production of our Group. Mr. Leung has over 31
years of experience in the PCB industry. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Leung worked for Ellington (Guangdong) Electronics
Technology Company Limited (a PCB manufacturer) as a deputy
general manager of a manufacturing factory from August 2000
to September 2004. From January 1997 to July 2000, he worked
for Kalex Printed Circuit Board Ltd. (a PCB manufacturer) with his
last position as an assistant production manager. From March
1986 to January 1997, Mr. Leung worked for Kalex Circuit Board
(Hong Kong) Ltd., a PCB manufacturer, as a production
superintendent. Mr. Leung was mainly responsible for overseeing
the factory operation and supervising the production staff in
these past positions. Mr. Leung completed his secondary school
education in Guangdong province, the PRC in July 1981.
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Mr. Ho David Pei Yen (B 1% ), aged 67, was appointed as our
vice president in January 2004 and is mainly responsible for
market development and product sales of our Group. Mr. Ho has
over 25 years of experience in the PCB industry. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Ho worked for Enigma Interconnect Corp.
(formerly known as Circuit Graphics Ltd, a PCB manufacturer) in
Canada with his last position as president from 1993 to 2002,
where he was mainly responsible for implementing new
technologies in PCB production and business development.

Mr. Ho obtained a diploma of technology in mechanical
technology from British Columbia Institute of Technology,
Canada in June 1980. Mr. Ho was accredited as an associate
member of the Society of Engineering Technologists of British
Columbia in Canada in June 1980.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lai Hau Yin (22 %) has been the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of our Company since March 2014
and August 2014, respectively. His biographical details are set
out in the above section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile — Senior Management”.
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

Corporate Culture

Upholding our corporate belief of “Goal, Planning, Implement,
Direction, Mission, Value”, we realize the spirit of “forging
ahead, working our way up to the top” to face various
opportunities and challenges amid the ever-changing world
trend and highly competitive business environment with passion,
diligence and intelligence. We continue to gain customer trust
and boldly work hand-in-hand towards reaching our goal.

Goal:

The long-term development goal of the Company is to be a
world-class enterprise which delivers world-renowned products
and services of the best quality.

Planning:
With keen business acumen, we make every effort to formulate
all-rounded, precise, and feasible plans.

Implement:
We need to be united, meticulous, efficient, precise and
persistent.

Direction:

Amid the ever-changing world-trend and the highly competitive
business environment, we timely formulate our strategic
direction. We boldly transform to keep up with the times.

Mission:

We nurture a corporate team with all-rounded development in
“morality, intellect, physique”. With united wisdom and
strength, we scale the heights of technology. We satisfy the
demand of our customers with quality products and excellent
service attitude. Our trilateral cooperation with our suppliers and
customers allows us to share the success and give back to the
society.

Value:

We adhere to honesty and keep our promises. With quality as
our core value, we strive for a win-win situation with our
stakeholders.
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Corporate Strategy

To realize the goal of creating long-term value for the
Shareholders and other stakeholders, the Group focuses on
producing high-quality circuit boards and enhancing the
production and management procedures by world-recognized
quality and management systems such as ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and IAF, IATF 16949 to ensure each piece of high-quality circuit
board produced satisfies the needs of the downstream industry.
By stressing on diversity in our market position, we can supply
products for various downstream markets and regional
segments. With good business acumen, we respond to market
changes and strive for various opportunities. In view of the
global aging population and the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Company has successfully obtained ISO 13485 quality system
certification for circuit boards used in medical equipment in
2022, laying the foundation to step into the medical equipment
market. The Company establishes solid long-term relationships
with suppliers and customers and has cooperated with some of
them for over a decade. Under the basis of mutual trust, the
flow of supply has been more smooth and stable.

Meanwhile, the Group continues to focus on environment,
society and governance and abide by the laws and regulations to
contribute to a green, healthy, inclusive and diversified lifestyle
of our next generation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of the
top priorities of the Company. The Board believes that good
corporate governance is one of the areas that leads to the
success of the Company and in balancing the interests of
shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board is
devoted to ongoing enhancements of the efficiency and
effectiveness of such principles and practices.

From 1 January 2022 up to the date of this annual report, the
Company had complied with the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except code
provision C.2.1 as more particularly described below.
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Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. However, we do not have a separate
chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Chan Wing Yin
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in
the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and
efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and effectively. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company at a time when it is appropriate and
suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard,
to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the rising expectations of the
shareholders and investors.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings of the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiries to all the Directors, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, three of which
are executive Directors, one is non-executive Director, and three
are independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (Chairman)
Mrs. Chan Yung

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Mr. Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung. They are
the parents of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (the non-executive Director)
and Mr. Chan Yan Wing (the executive Director).

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the
section “Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 22
to 27.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS
MEETINGS
Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board

meetings, committee meetings and shareholder meetings held
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

E=xg
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E=cHMACRESMAK  EF=2ANTES
—HBRINITER  PI=ZFBARBIUIRITEE - &
FEZERMT
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REBELE(EE)
REBEZL
BRBUK &

FHITESE:
REE KL

BYFHITES:
BESEE
ERER R ST 4
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REE£4 BRBLHIRIE - REARBIEE
HTH ) BB (AT R) L o

SEFIREHERRENE VA EERAREE
A | — 7 -

EERNBERIHER

BAAEEREE-_TE-_—F+-_HA=+—HILFEE
AZEEECE ZESCRRBRREASZHFE R
BEEHIT

Directors' Attendance Attended/Held

ESHRERYBIRR
Annual
Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Ezgel e HES =L FHEEE - REZEE RRAFAS
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chan Wing Yin (Chairman) — [REAB S 4 (/) 4/4 N/ATE N/A T N/A B 11
Mrs. Chan Yung RELL 4/4 N/A T £ N/A T N/A i A 1
Mr. Chan Yan Wing BREKEAE 4/4 N/ATE 11 11 11
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong BB AL 4/4 N/A T 11 11 1/1
Independent Non-executive ~ BV FHTES
Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming ERRLE 44 212 1/1 11 1/1
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu RSB SE A 4/4 212 171 " 11
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 2E% 5% & 4/4 212 171 Al 11
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operational and financial performance of
the Company. Other Board meetings will be held when
necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active participation,
either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. For the year ended 31
December 2022, four Board meetings were held.

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for
attending regular and other Board meetings. Meeting agendas
and other relevant information are provided to the Directors in
advance of Board meetings. All Directors are consulted to include
additional matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all
applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comment and records. Minutes of Board
meetings are kept by the company secretary and such minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
prior notice by any Director.

GENERAL MEETINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, one general meeting
was held.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing
the Company’s affairs, including the responsibilities for the
adoption of long-term strategies and appointing and supervising
senior management to ensure that the operation of the Group is
conducted in accordance with the objective of the Group. The
Board is also responsible for determining the Company’'s
corporate governance policies which include: (i) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) to review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain
responsibilities are delegated to various Board committees which
have been established by the Board to deal with different aspects
of the Company's affairs. Unless otherwise specified in their
respective written terms of reference as approved by the Board,
these Board committees are governed by the Company'’s articles
of association as well as the Board’s policies and practices (in so
far as the same are not in conflict with the provisions contained
in the articles of association). With the new composition of
members of the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the audit committee, the independent non-
executive Directors will be able to effectively devote their time to
perform the duties required by the respective Board committees.

The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing
its strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management
of the Company under the leadership of the executive Directors.
Clear guidance has been made as to the matters that should be
reserved to the Board for its decision which include matters on,
inter alia, capital, finance and financial reporting, risk
management and internal controls, communication with
shareholders, Board membership, delegation of authority and
corporate governance.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. The financial statements set out on
pages 68 to 156 were prepared on the basis set out in note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements. Financial results of the
Group are announced in a timely manner in accordance with
statutory and/or regulatory requirements. The declaration of
reporting responsibility issued by the external auditors of the
Company on the Company’s financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67.

There is no non-compliance with rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors have
been given relevant guideline materials and attended a training
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of
disclosure of interest and business of the Group. Such induction
materials and briefings will also be provided to newly appointed
Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors
will be arranged whenever necessary.

All Directors have provided record of training attendance, and
the Company will continue to arrange and/or fund the training
in accordance with the Code Provisions.

During the year, all Directors pursued continuous professional
development, and relevant details are set out below:

Name of Directors

HEREXRR

REE-ZT-_F+-RA=1+—HILFE 28E=F
B HAARMESIER - X2 MBI ARREE
REZZBAREMR BERARESEZABEN KR
RAGERGHRBEETLEY HEIEFRZERE
R NENEHABEZEHBEN KGR - 0F
FE ARABRESLIFEARINEXERK -

E2RESHERHUBILFELE - MARBKEER
IRsF AR BE R A BIE I

Py AEFMESBERERR  AEFER
T

Types of training

SR EHIER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chan Wing Yin PRECE A4 A B
Mrs. Chan Yung PR 20+ A, B
Mr. Chan Yan Wing PR Bk 5 A A B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong PRE A A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming EBEERAASE A, B
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu ERER B SE A A, B
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 28z A4 A, B
Remarks: 2

A — Attending conferences/forums/seminars
B — Reading journals/updates/articles/materials

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. However, we do not have a separate
chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Chan Wing Yin
currently performs these two roles. The Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in
the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within our Group and enables more effective and
efficient overall strategic planning for our Group. The Board
considers this structure will enable our Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced and
high calibre individuals with a sufficient number thereof being
independent non-executive Directors.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, non-executive Director and each of
the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company. Such term is for an initial term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date (except for Mr.
Lau Shun Chuen and Mr. Chan Yan Kwong, whose term is for
three years commencing from his date of appointment) and shall
continue subject to termination by either party in accordance
with the terms thereof and the retirement and re-election
provisions in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at
each annual general meeting (“AGM") one third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However,
if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third shall be the
number of retiring Directors. The Directors who shall retire in
each year will be those who have been longest in the office since
their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who become or were last re-elected Directors on the same day
those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by the Company. Such retiring
Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors on 18 November 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code Provisions. Its
terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors. The nomination committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Shun
Chuen (Chairman), Mr. Chung Yuk Ming and Mr. Yau Wing Yiu,
one executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Wing, and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwong.
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For the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the structure of the Board and
recommended to the Board for reappointment of all directors at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee also determined the criteria of the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”).

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
nomination committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education
background, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, and also the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. All candidates must be
able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of
the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director should also meet the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the Board for
approval.

To enhance the quality of the performance of the Board and to
achieve diversity on the Board, the Board adopted on 18
November 2014 the Board Diversity Policy, pursuant to which (i)
differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of
the Board; and (ii) all Board appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).
For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive directors;

(B) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(C) atleast 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in; and

(D) at least two of the members of the Board shall have China-
related work experience.

The Board currently has one female Director out of seven
Directors, and is committed to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Company is of the
view that gender diversity in respect of the Board has been
achieved. Of the 696 employees (including senior management)
of the Group as at 31 December 2022, 278 are female.
Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is also
achieved in its workforce generally.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has fulfilled
the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant
to a resolution of the Directors passed on 18 November 2014
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25
and Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference
of the remuneration committee was adopted in compliance with
the Code Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group and ensure none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The emoluments of executive Directors are
determined based on the skills, knowledge, individual
performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility
and accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration of
the Company’s performance and prevailing market conditions.
The remuneration policy of independent non-executive Directors is
to ensure that the independent non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to
the Company'’s affairs including their participation in respective
Board committees. The emoluments of independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their skills, experience,
knowledge, duties and market trends. As at the date of this
annual report, the remuneration committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Yuk
Ming (Chairman), Mr. Lau Shun Chuen and Mr. Yau Wing Yiu,
one executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Wing and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwong.

Details of remuneration of Directors and chief executive are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:
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HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001,8 70 2,000,000 87T 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting in which it assessed the performance, reviewed
and determined the remuneration package (including reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes, where
applicable) of the directors and senior management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Director passed on 18 November 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 and
Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the audit committee was adopted in compliance with the Code
Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the audit committee, among other things,
are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor, review the
financial statements and material advice in respect of financial
reporting and oversees risk management and internal control
procedures of the Company. As at the date of this annual report,
the audit committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Chairman), Mr. Lau Shun
Chuen and Mr. Chung Yuk Ming.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee members met twice with the external auditors
and the Group’s senior management to discuss and review,
among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2022 to ensure the full, complete and accurate disclosure
in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the
accounting standards and other legal requirements for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b) the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst &
Young as external auditors to perform the audit of final
results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
review on the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2022;

(c) the independence of the external auditors especially for
those non-audit services;

(d)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

(e) the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
controls;

(f)  the overall effectiveness of its internal audit function; and
(g) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of

staff and the accounting and financial reporting matters
and their training programmes and budget.
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The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity
of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external
auditors for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report, the Board has not taken a different view from the
audit committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditors.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the Company engaged Ernst & Young as the
external auditors. Apart from providing audit services, Ernst &
Young also provided non-audit services including: i) taxation
services; ii) review of interim financial information; iii) certain
procedures on the annual result announcement; and iv) certain
procedures on very substantial transactions. The fees in respect
of audit and non-audit services provided by Ernst & Young for
the year ended 31 December 2022 approximately amounted to
HK$1,600,000 and HK$505,500, respectively.

The reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lai Hau Yin being our company secretary is primarily
responsible for the company secretarial work of our Group. Mr.
Lai is also our Company’s chief financial officer. The Company
confirms that Mr. Lai has for the year 2022 attended no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described in the sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
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. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

The management assesses the potential risks faced by the Group
from time to time, which is also evaluated annually by a
professional institute engaged by the Group. This year’s
evaluation covered the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2022, no significant
risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present
and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.
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o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

The management assess the internal control system of the Group
from time to time, which is also evaluated annually by a
professional institution engaged by the Group. The professional
institution has completed the evaluation for the period from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022. Based on the internal
control reviews conducted in 2022, no significant control
deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise. The 1A
function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

An |A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience
of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and
budget provided were sufficient.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") of the
Company are prepared in accordance with the articles of
association as follows:

(1) One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right to vote at general
meetings, shall have the right, by written notice, to require
an EGM to be called by the Directors of the Company for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

(2)  Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Room 809-810, Kwong Sang Hong Centre,
151-153 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: ir@yantat.com

Attention: Mr. Lai Hau Yin

Registered office of the Company

Address: Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350 Grand Cayman
KY-1108 Cayman Islands
Attention: Mr. Lai Hau Yin

(3)  The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

(4) If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

For matters in relation to the Board, the shareholders can contact
the Company at the following:

By post to the Company’s headquarter in Hong Kong
By email to ir@yantat.com
Attention to Company Secretary, Mr. Lai Hau Yin

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his or her
proposal (“Proposal”) with his or her detailed contact
information at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong. Such contact address is Room 809-810, Kwong
Sang Hong Centre, 151-153 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, attention to Company Secretary, Mr. Lai
Hau Yin.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include
the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(1) At least 14 days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of ordinary resolution of the Company.

(2) At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an EGM of the Company or an ordinary resolution of the
Company in an annual general meeting of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a
high level of transparency is a key to enhancing investor
relations. The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investing public.

The Company has developed a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure balanced and understandable information about
the Company are readily available to Shareholders.

Shareholders may raise questions or make a request through
designated channels for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available. Please refer to
pages 3 and 42 of this Annual Report for the address of the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and contact
details of the Company. Shareholders can contact Tricor Investor
Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar, for questions about their shareholdings.
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Information of the Company is also communicated to
Shareholders through the Company’s Corporate
Communications, including but not limited to financial reports
(interim and annual reports), announcements and circulars. Such
publications are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable. The Corporate
Communications shall be in plain language, and Shareholders
have the right to choose English and/or Chinese version or
means of receipt of such Corporate Communications to facilitate
understandable, timely and environmental friendly
communication.

Information on the Company’s website (www.yantat.com) is
updated on a regular basis. A dedicated Investor Relations
section is available with presentation materials and webcasts of
the Company’s interim and annual results briefings provided in
conjunction with the Company’s results announcements as soon
as practicable after release to the public. Press releases and other
Corporate Communications of the Group are also available on
the Company’s website.

General meetings are held at least annually whereby there are
opportunities for the Company to have direct interactions with
Shareholders. Board members, in particular, the chairmen of
Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives and external auditors will attend annual general
meetings to answer questions from Shareholders and their
appointed proxies. The process of the Company’s general
meetings is monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and if
necessary, changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’
needs are best served.

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’
privacy. Shareholders’ privacy is protected under the
Shareholders Communication Policy and Shareholders’
information will not be disclosed without their consent, unless
required by law to do so.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy.
With the above measures in place, the Shareholders
Communication Policy is considered to have been effectively
implemented.

From the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
there has been no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
"Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
those of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Further
discussion and analysis of these activities and indication of likely
future development in the Company’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) can be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” set out on pages 5
and 6 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on
pages 9 to 21 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 68
to 156.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK12.0
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK6.0
cents per share).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 8. This summary
does not form part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 31 December 2022, the investment properties of the Group
were revalued by an independent firm of professional surveyor
and property valuer on an open market value basis at
HK$26,868,000 (2021: HK$29,293,000).

Details of these and other movements during the year in the
investment properties of the Group are set out below and in
note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

REMHE
RZZB_—_F+-A=1t—H AXEEREVELSE

VERAEMEMEGEEMATEARMERES R
#$26,868,000 /7T (ZF = —4F : 29,293,000/7T) °

AREBIREYE LB E R FERNEMET 2 15
R T XRERE TS IRERMIE14 -

Property location Existing use Term of lease
LS BEAR HER
1. Unit 2705, Level 27, Tongda Chuangye Building, No.1, Alley 600, Commercial Long
Tianshan Road, Changning District, Shanghai, The PRC
hE LT RERKILE600F 1 SRRZAIZEAE 271 2705= [GES =31
2. Flat 1812, 1912, 2012, 2112, 2206, 2306, 2402, 2406 and 2506, Residential Long
Block B, Elife Park, Yanziling Third Road, Pingshan New District,
Shenzhen, The PRC
REARNTFILER T E= K SEBMR 1812 1912~ 2012 = £
2112 ~ 2206 ~ 2306 ~ 2402 ~ 2406 }2 2506 =
RESERVES e

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 72 and 73 of this
annual report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company'’s distributable reserves,
calculated under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$62.5 million (2021:
HK$60.8 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales attributable to the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers accounted for approximately 24.8% and
54.9% (2021: 28.9% and 59.0%) respectively of the Group'’s
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
purchases made by the Group from its largest supplier and the
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 24.5% and
59.8% (2021: 37.5% and 70.0%) of the Group’s total purchases
for the year ended 31 December 2022, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors,
their close associates, nor any shareholders who owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into, or existed, during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board of the
Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SUBSIDIARIES

The details of the major subsidiaries of the Company are set out
in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group's total capital expenditure amounted
to approximately HK$4.1 million (2021: HK$8.1 million) which
was mainly used for acquisition of machineries and equipment.

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022
date are set out in note 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The details of the Group’s charges on assets are set
out on page 21.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (Chairman)
Mrs. Chan Yung

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meeting and shall continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the service contract.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting and until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other or
otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letter of
appointment.

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within 1 year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all of them are considered
to be independent.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the existing Directors shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director of the
Company or an entity connected with such Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
business of the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” on pages 22 to 27 of this annual
report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the prospectus of the
Company dated 26 November 2014 (the “Prospectus”), there
was no contract of significance or contract of significance for
provision of services, to which the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries had a material interest
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of non-
competition undertaking.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus.

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the controlling
shareholders have become effective from the Listing Date.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director of the
Company has made an annual declaration in respect of their
compliance with the terms of non-competition undertaking.

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the executive
Directors and non-executive Director have become effective from
the Listing Date.
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The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and
confirmed that the executive Directors and non-executive
Director of the Company have complied with the non-
competition undertaking and the non-competition undertaking
has been enforced by the Company in accordance with its terms.

NEW BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY

There was no New Opportunity (as defined in the Prospectus
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non
Competition Undertakings”) referred by the controlling
shareholders to the Company as provided under the non-
competition undertaking.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling
shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following continuing
connected transactions (as defined under the Listing Rules) for
the year ended 31 December 2022:

(1)  On 4 October 2021, Yan Tat Technology Limited (“YT
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a lease agreement (“Yantek Lease”)
with Yantek Electronics Company Limited (“Yantek”) a
connected person of the Company within the meanings of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Yantek Lease, YT
Technology shall lease from Yantek the premises situated
at Flat E on 15th Floor and Flat Roof immediately above of
Tower 5 and Car Parking Space No. 11 on Car Park BT,
One Beacon Hill, No. 1 Beacon Hill Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong with a gross total floor area of approximately 1,473
square feet at a monthly rental of HK$58,000 for a term of
2 years commencing from 1 November 2021 (total
consideration: HK$1,392,000). The lease term is from 1
November 2021 to 31 October 2023 as staff quarter for
Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung.
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(2)  On 13 October 2020, YT Technology renewed a tenancy
agreement (“Headquarters Lease”) with Yantek, a
connected person of the Company within the meanings of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Headquarters Lease, YT
Technology shall lease from Yantek the office premises and
warehouse located at Room 09, 10 and 14 on 8th Floor,
Kwong Sang Hong Centre, Nos. 151-153 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly rental of
HK$90,000 for a term of 2 years commencing on 25
November 2020 and ending on 24 November 2022 for the
Group's use (total consideration: HK$2,160,000).

On 2 November 2022, the agreement has been renewed
for two years at the same monthly rent. The lease period is
starting from 25 November 2022 to 24 November 2024.
Total consideration is HK$2,160,000.

Yantek is beneficially owned as to 34% by Mr. Chan Yan Wing,
33% by Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 33% by Ms. Chan Yan Sam.
Mr. Chan Yan Wing and Mr. Chan Yan Kwong are the Directors
of the Company. Ms. Chan Yan Sam is the sister of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong and Mr. Chan Yan Wing and the daughter of Mr.
Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung.

The continuing connected transactions mentioned above are
fully exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement
requirements and the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and in their opinion, the transactions are:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (2)
on normal commercial terms or better; and (3) in accordance
with the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of significant related party
transactions, which do not constitute connected transactions,
made during the year is disclosed in note 32 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Company confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company'’s existing Share Option Scheme was approved for
adoption pursuant to a written resolution of all of our
Shareholders passed on 18 November 2014 for the purpose to
provide our Company with a flexible means of giving incentive
to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to eligible participants and for such other purposes as
the Board approve from time to time.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their absolute discretion, grant or invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes to take up options to
subscribe for shares: (a) any employee, supplier, service provider,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Group
(including any director, whether executive and whether
independent or not, of the Group) who is in full-time or part-
time employment with the Company or any subsidiaries; (b) any
person who have contributed or may contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 8
December 2014 unless the Company seeks the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit
under the Share Option Scheme provided that options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating 10% limit.

Details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set
out in paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section
headed “Statutory and General Information” in Appendix V to
the Prospectus. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme
are summarised as follows:

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 18 November 2014 and remains in force until
17 November 2024. The Company may, by resolution in general
meeting or, such date as the Board determined, terminate the
Share Option Scheme at any time without prejudice to the
exercise of options granted prior to such termination.
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The exercise price per share of the Company for each option
granted shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but in any event shall be at least the higher of:

(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
guotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer for the grant of option (“Date of Grant”)
which must be a trading day;

(2) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant; and

(3) the nominal value of the shares on the Date of Grant.

Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00
to the Company as consideration for the grant. The acceptance
of an offer of the grant of the option must be made within the
date as specified in the offer letter issued by the Company. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years commencing on the
date of grant and expiring on the last day of such 10-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in the
Share Option Scheme.

The total number of new shares of the Company that may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share options schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 24,000,000 shares, which represents
10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at the date of this
report. The total number of new shares of the Company
available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share
Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year ended
31 December 2022 are 24,000,000 shares and 24,000,000
shares, respectively.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
grantee under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to issuance of a circular by the Company and approved by its
shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-
executive directors. In addition, any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.
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Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

From the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme to 31
December 2022, no options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

Additional particulars of the Company’s Share Option Scheme
are set out in note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Apart from the aforesaid share option schemes, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2022 was any of the
Company and its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age
18, had any right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures
of, the Company, or had exercise any such right.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors and chief executives of
the Company had the following interests in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its Group
members and/or associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing Rules:
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The Company AN

Number of
ordinary

Name of Capacity/ shares held Percentage of

Name of Director Group member nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
BFELEREE

BEEHA SEREATNEE B kg (BFsE1) ERESL

Mr. Chan Wing Yin The Company Interest in a controlled 180,000,000 75%
corporation (Note 2) shares (L)
PRECE A4 VIN/NE] R EEE R (MiEE2) 180,000,000
(L)

Mrs. Chan Yung The Company Interest of spouse (Note 3) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
PRE 224 PiN/NE] fefBE s (MI3E3) 180,000,000
% (L)

54 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



Report of the Directors

EEEHE

Notes: B & -
1. The letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the 1. [LI B RAR RISEEBER R B LA -
Company or the relevant associated corporation
2. The Company is held as to approximately 75% by Million Pearl Holdings 2. 782 ) i Million Pearl Holdings Ltd. ([ Million Pearl J) # 4 41 75%
Ltd. (“Million Pearl”). Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin # 2% ° Million Pearl HFREA B L £ RRB L+ 2 RIHEE 70% K&
and 30% by Mrs. Chan Yung. Mr. Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. 30% s o REB R ERRBLZ TR - BIREFRIE K
Chan Yung. Under the SFO, Mr. Chan Wing Yin is taken to be interested in Bl BRESB L EWARENRB L T H A E=AEREE 2’5
the same number of shares in which Mrs. Chan Yung is interested. RYEA
3. Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs. 3. Million Pearl %3 Bl 5 R 48 B 5% 4 K PR BB 22 T #55 70% &% 30% #E
Chan Yung. Mrs. Chan Yung is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin. Under @ RBATRRERBEENES - RIZEFMPERE - B
the SFO, Mrs. Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of BRITHEGIERNREELERAERNERSE 2ROHPH#EE
shares to which Mr. Chan Wing Yin is interested. M o
Associated Corporation B EE
Number of
Name of ordinary
associated Capacity/ shares held Percentage of
Name of Director corporation nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
BESRERYE
EEHE AR O B 2 B 510 RmtE (BF&E1) BRESL
Mr. Chan Wing Yin Million Pearl Beneficial owner/ 10 shares 100%
Interest of spouse
PRECE 4 BEnEB A BB 10h%
Mrs. Chan Yung Million Pearl Beneficial owner/ 10 shares 100%
Interest of spouse
PREZ L EnEEA ks 10 A%
Note: B&E -
1. The disclosed interest represents the interests in the associated corporation, il. PR B2 4 2 45 MO AB A @ Million Pearl MU - EABREB E4E
Million Pearl, which is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by NMBRB L5 IR 70% 5 30% 1k o RIEE S RIS KA -
Mrs. Chan Yung. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. REBEERRBL TR HWRER S —H R RRNERZAE
Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which 2RI RS
other is interested.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the B EXFIHEBEEIN RZE_—_F+_A=+—H"

Directors and chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRREMALTRAER T RS RBEK
BhZERR KR

RZZE——F+=-A=+—H BESHA ' A TA

T/ EE(BEERARAEEZITHABRIN RARF]
IR AR D R - HEA R BB IRIRE S &
EIEBIEXVEE2 RE3DEIEXARAR R B KRER
Bk B - RIRIBEF S RATE EHI 5 336 a8 AR
NRARTEEGFENEZLMAERIOAEWNT ¢

Number of
ordinary % of
shares held interest in
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) the Company
BFEEBEREE RAEATZ
BREEE HE B fEEHy GERD) EREIL
Million Pearl (Note 2) Beneficial owner 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
Million Pearl (Bff5E2) EmfA A 180,000,000 A% (L)
Mr. Chan Wing Yin Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
BRASE 4 % 4% M as (BT 3) 180,000,000 A (L)
Mrs. Chan Yung Interest of spouse (Note 4) 180,000,000 75%

PREZ+ Ao (P=E4)
Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the

Company or the relevant Group member.
2. Million Pearl is directly interested in approximately 75% of the Company.

3. The Company is held as to approximately 75% by Million Pearl. Million Pearl
is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs. Chan Yung. Mr.
Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung. Under the SFO, Mr. Chan
Wing Yin is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
Mrs. Chan Yung is interested.

4. Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs.
Chan Yung. Mrs. Chan Yung is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin. Under
the SFO, Mrs. Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of
shares in which Mr. Chan Wing Yin is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons/entities (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

shares (L)
180,000,000 A% (L)

G

1. [LIRRZATRARRIHAEBEREKE R RNRDOFE

2. Million Pearl B HE A AR B K) 75% KR -

3. XA 7] Million Pearl 5 7 #175% ## 2 © Million Pearl F R 48 B
FERRBLZ LS RIFET70% K% 30% #as - [REAE K4 AR
B LTHRE - BIREHF RG] - BREBE L AEWR RN
Brt#A# 2 HREE QRN TS R

4. Million Pearl i [R 5% B 5t & & FR B8 22 = 53 Bl #575 70% K 30% ##
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M o
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this
annual report, none of the Directors or substantial shareholders
of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests
with the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither did the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed
securities.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding the
Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year under review and up to the date of
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages
28 to 44 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up to review the
Company’s emolument policy and structure of all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market practices. No long-term
incentive schemes have been adopted by the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals

with highest emoluments are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group produces PCB in China and sells them around the
world, and is faced with certain different types of risks and
uncertainties. The principal items are listed as below.

Vi.

58

It has been more than three years since the COVID-19
outbreak. Various countries are moving along the path to
normalcy, and the PRC has also reopened. However, it is
uncertain whether there will be future pandemics which
will hinder the recovery progress. The economy along with
the operation and production of enterprises are being
exposed to adverse conditions.

The Group derives a significant portion of its revenue from
major customers, particularly automobile customers. The
decrease in demand from major customers may materially
and adversely affect the business.

Fluctuation in exchange rates may adversely affect the
business.

The Group may be subject to any labour shortages,
increased labour cost or other factors affecting labour
force, or full implementation of social security and public
housing policies, which may materially affect the Group's
business operation and financial condition.

The PRC government has tightened its environmental
regulation. Although the Group’s current operation falls in
line with the requirement, it may be affected and incur
additional expenses when the relevant regulatory threshold
is raised further in the future.

U.S.” China Policy continues to imposes higher tariffs on
imported Chinese goods, and restricts Huawei from
participating in 5G projects, which may slow down
economic growth across the globe, and in return
decelerate the development of the PCB market.

FERRBRTHABREE

AREBRFEEGEPCE - WHHE TR R - HHERE
TAREERI e R ARBEE - TREAHINWT -

Vi.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Xiil.

Currently, various PCB manufacturers are vigorously
expanding their production capacity. When the market
fails to meet the development expectation, the excessive
production capacity will result in irrational competition
among industrial peers, pushing down the unit price and
diminishing the company’s profitability.

The Group's sole production facility is based in Shenzhen.
If this facility experiences any issue that results in a lower
production output, and no third-party assistance is
identified, our sales will decline.

The Group entered into a cooperation agreement with an
independent third party in relation to the urban renewal
project located at the current production area in Pingshan
District. Failure for the counterparty to make payment
instalments in time in accordance with the terms of the
cooperation agreement may result in the cooperation
being terminated. For further details, please refer to
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Financial Review
— Future plans for material in investments and capital
assets” above.

The Group’s major production operation activities take
place in Mainland China. Any change to the policies in
Mainland China (including taxation, foreign exchange
control, and imports and exports) is likely to affect the
Group's overall performance.

In 2021, there were power supply problems in various
parts of China, and then the government relaxed the price
restrictions on electricity tariffs, which may increase the
future electricity cost of domestic manufacturers.

The persistence of war between Russia and Ukraine results
in frequent geopolitical conflicts and oppositions between
countries and thus has an impact on normal transactions
and increased development risks of each industry.

Overseas customers would like to realize the “China Plus
One"” concept in their supply chain to reduce their reliance
in Chinese suppliers. They would like to look for alternative
suppliers outside China, thus reducing procurements of
Chinese factories in the future.

Vii.

Vii.

X.

Xi.

Xii.

Xiii.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental protection is a collective responsibility not to be
ignored. The Group’s production factories in Shenzhen, China
possesses state-of-the-art PCB technologies and attaches a great
importance to environmental protection. The Group recognises
that the production process of PCBs would generate more
emissions than some other industries. In regard of this, we strive
to enhance the efficiency of environmental protection. The
Group sets up different management requirements for
environmental protection every year, aiming at reducing negative
impact on the environment from our operation. We have
obtained certification of IATF16949:2016 (quality assurance),
ISO14001 (environment management system), ISO9001 (quality
management system), 1SO13485:2016 (quality assurance for
medical devices) and AS9100D (quality management system) as
well as UL-796 (safety and management) for PCB quality
standard and environment management system.

The Group strictly observed the laws and regulations governing
air pollution, noise pollution, hazardous chemicals, sewage and
waste discharge and other environmental matters issued by PRC
national, provincial and municipal governments and authorities.
Meanwhile, as a responsible corporation, we produce all of our
products in compliance with the requirement of Cleaner
Production Standard: Printed Circuit Board Manufacturing (&2
AERE : HRIERIRZIESE) issued by the Ministry of
Environmental Protection of China.

With resources in the Earth becoming increasingly scarce,
corporations should have long-term vision instead of focusing on
existing interests. The Group sees that there are economic
benefits to be capitalized in environmental protection and our
effort focuses chiefly in the following aspects, among others:
actively pushing forward the initiative of energy conservation
and consumption reduction by saving energy, water, material
and reducing resource consumption during the course of our
production, with a view to maximizing the cost effectiveness
with minimal resources; and full implementation of clean
production to achieve waste reduction at source. At the same
time, under the guidance of a paperless office, the Group
introduced the Enterprise Resources Planning System (“ERP”
System), through which it implemented electronic management
on the its production, sales, supply chain, and human resources
with a view to saving paper.

The environmental, social and governance report in Compliance
with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules will be issued in due
course.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable
legal framework. Updates on applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees
and operation units from time to time.

By order of the Board

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
CHAN Wing Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B Z A S

EY:

To the shareholders of Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yan
Tat Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 68 to 156, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZBEHRE (E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit matter
BEETEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNAEERARENSE

Impairment of trade receivables

B G RWSERE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross trade receivables
of approximately HK$193,115,000 before deducting loss
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$4,824,000.
RZBEZZF+_A=+—H  ESEZEZERFIELELD
193,115,000 7T (HIBR RUE B8 B 5 40 4,824,000 B TTAT) ©

Significant management judgements, estimations and
assumptions are required in determining the expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) of the trade receivables, with reference to the
groupings of various customer segments, ageing profile of the
trade receivables, historical loss experience, past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
ETEZRERENEREERBE((FEREEEE]) RBAEED
EREEEAE B RER - K2EZRERP»HOE BSH
FEUGIRRRER B - [EELEIRLER - BESEIE - BARERRE
EARLTEA

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the balance
and the significant judgements and estimates required in
assessing ECLs of trade receivables.

BT EE T RNERERNRTGE ZRYIGIEN ARG
SEERESERAE KM -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
THRA R RSN AR A P SRR s 3 K 18 o

We evaluated management’s impairment assessment
of trade receivables and our key procedures included,
amongst others, (i) obtaining an understanding and
assessing the Group’s policy and approach to
determine the loss allowance for impairment,
including an evaluation of management’s relevant
judgements and estimates based on available
historical and forward-looking information; and (ii)
examining, on a sample basis, management’'s
calculations and assumptions used to determine the
ECLs through testing of certain underlying
information generated by the Group’s financial
reporting system and assessing the repayment history
of certain debtors as well as applicable forward-
looking factors with reference to related publicly
available information. We also assessed the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
BTG EREHEE S REEANRER M - hE
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZBA®RE ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREEEE

BB EE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRAWESTNNEERRETSEE

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

W77 E E B EE

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$87,080,000 as at 31 December 2022. The
Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value is required after considering, inter alia, the
ageing analysis of inventories, current market conditions and the
expected future sales of goods and usage of materials.

EEER T - —F+ - A=1+—HBAEKEMAEL 87,080,000
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The determination of net realisable value requires management
to make significant judgements, assumptions and estimates that
affect the reported amount of inventories and related
disclosures.

ErrgRFERREEEFLY ETER RSB MERNE
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We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the balance
involved and the significant judgements and estimates required
in assessing the net realisable value of inventories.

BT EE RN RNERERN KEHAFEE R Z5R)3E
& Z 8 R H R R AEE e

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ER BN AR A M RARMEI R 17 -

Our related key procedures included, amongst
others, (i) observing physical inventory counts at
major locations and checking the condition of
inventories on a sample basis; (ii) obtaining an
understanding of the net realisable value assessments
made by management and evaluating the
reasonableness and appropriateness of the significant
judgements, assumptions and estimates adopted in
the assessments based on available information; (iii)
examining the inventory ageing and the usage of
materials on a sample basis; and (iv) comparing the
actual selling prices less costs of disposal of finished
goods sold, on a sample basis, to their carrying
amounts.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZRBENRE (F)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZBA®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

BB EA RS YBRREARNER

BRWER  RHSRAMBRRBEBRES T FEHR
MFRERMEMNERBRBARGAERE I
HABEHRMEENZHERE - RAEHZERR
TEHIRE - BRULIASN - RREL B|EM A - BT
ERABMENARAETAEMA LR ESAEEAE
fE o

BERFERNKFHRE  BETERERKKEERN
ERIVETHR - ERX —EAHRFERAEER -
TEIRT AR BRF SR B ARSI - MRABEMEMES
HERERAIGEF BRAMBRREBERBEAN
MR PTEH OV ERTE - BRI BRH RA R (FE
% o

ERBKERBRAEINETEANBRES - HFIER
TERAE - RETERIBRREE © RAIT

o ERIAMFE AN EFEK IR M BT A MR
REEBRERNER - &5 RATRIEF A
EHEERRE  ARERTRMEENERTRE
& ERBAIBERAER - RNMEFAI e K $
o RE - BEEER  ERRA - SORBRAE
ok ol S| s N 2 S S TR K GO N
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REVEE -

o THREFRHAMMAIES - UREFHEEHET
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o HEEFFRAGHREOREMERELEH
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s HEERARBEKLSHERNREE(ELA
i o RIBFTERNEER  BEESFEESE
HHRENEBENEANTHEEN - #iM A EER
H BEENFARLERNIELESARE - IR
BPRRFEEATEEN - BBV 2EZEE
REPRFBEAEIEHFESMBRRPOERH
BE - BREEMNKRETR  RIRMEZHRIE
BREER - HAINEmEENZEEIRE LR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZBEHRE (E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE_-ZF - —

F+=A=+—HiEE

2022
—=s-=
Notes HK$°000
B =E FExT
REVENUE & 5 743,612
Cost of sales $HE R AN (562,835)
Gross profit EF 180,777
Other income and gains E A A R W as 5 29,001
Selling and distribution expenses HE ko HRA X (19,492)
General and administrative expenses ~ —f 4T BB (77,838)
Other expenses HibhHZ (1,131)
Finance costs B E RN 7 (COE))
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB ADER 6 110,908
Income tax expense PS8t 5 2 10 (16,644)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AAREEAELFREF
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY
EARNINGS PER SHARE RATBERBFE A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY AL SR AT
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY 12
Basic and diluted AR R EE HK39.3 cents Al
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HK$’000
THAT

763,836

(620,842)

142,994

46,244
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE_—_E_-_—F+-_A=1+—HIFE

2022 2021
=== B —F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET T

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 94,264 46,244

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Ht2EUz (F5E)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REZEEAIGEEFT D EEEBEH
may be reclassified to profit or loss in HihemEilz (E8)
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BMEGINETSHIIE H =58
of foreign operations 14,253
Other comprehensive loss that REZHREETERHEEBEEN
will not be reclassified to profit or Hith 2 EEE :
loss in subsequent periods:
Change in fair value of a financial BRATE AR EERER
asset at fair value through M EENA T EZS
other comprehensive income (35) (67)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRHEth2mEUkzE ~(&i8)
FOR THE YEAR (49,367) 14,186
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ARAFEAAEBEFAZE
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO Wik EE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 44,897 60,430
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_H=+—H

2022
—s=-=
Notes HK$’000
Mo FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE = MR 13 293,267
Investment properties B 14 26,868
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15(a) 6,329
Deposits for purchases of items HBEYHE  BEMXEEEN
of property, plant and equipment bicia 19 678
Deposits we 19 116
Deferred tax assets REFIEEE 25 9,300
Financial asset at fair value through A EFAEAM
other comprehensive income PHEWRF I EE 16 4,019
Total non-current assets IEmBEERLE 340,577
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories VER 17 87,080
Trade and bills receivables B 5 e IR R R % 18 212,778
Prepayments, deposits and other BRH®IE - Re Rk
receivables Hfth pE IR 19 5,550
Pledged deposits [EEEw S 20 31,522
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 20 377,555
714,485
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFERHEZEE 21 3,319
Total current assets M EEREE 717,804
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables =) ANEe 22 103,346
Other payables and accruals HAb e RIE R EET & A 23 68,282
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITIER 24 35,983
Lease liabilities HEERE 15(b) 1,580
Tax payable FESIFRIA 18,765
Total current liabilities mE B EEE 227,956
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 489,848
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBAEMS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

830,425
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2021
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HK$’000
THAT

347,100
29,293
6,573

202
9,923

4,440
397,531

104,084
256,740

10,971

32,100
272,342

676,237
3,619

679,856

138,006
65,484
32,010

1,623
28,175

265,298

414,558

812,089



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=+—H

2022 2021
=== T
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5E THET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 15(b) 965 567
Deposit received Biize 23 111,950 122,310
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEEE 25 25,782 24,588
Deferred income FRIE A 23 8,330 11,723
Total non-current liabilities EmB A EERE 147,027 159,188
Net assets BEFRE 683,398 652,901
EQUITY fE=
Equity attributable to owners KATEEAELER
of the Company
Issued capital B TR A 26 2,400 2,400
Reserves HiE 28 680,998 650,501
Total equity HarEes 683,398 652,901
Chan Yung Chan Wing Yin
BB FREE
Director Director
S -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERREER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE_—_E_-——F+-A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAAIEE AR
Fair value
reserve
of a financial
asset through Land and
Share other building Exchange
Issued premium Capital ~ comprehensie~ revaluation  fluctuation Reserve Retained Total
capital account reserve income reserve reserve funds* profits equity
SAMRE
LGt
BET ol HBEE DHRET B

o HER BaGk  ATERE Eftii KR RREE REEH s
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L L FhL T T T T T T

At 1 January 2021 R=2--F£-f-H 2,400 62,609 60,455 1,182 485 23,306 52,236 404,198 606,871
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - = = 46,244 46,244
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EREMEERE/ (58) :
for the year:
Change in fair value of a finandial asset —BRATESAEMEE
at fair value through other Deatap V30
comprehensive income AFEEY = = = (67) = = = = (67)
Exchange differences on translation of REENEBNERZE
foreign operations - - - - - 14,253 - - 14,253
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year M2 E K/ (KiiE) 25 - - - (67) - 14,253 - 46,244 60,430
Transfer from retained profits EREREE - - - - - - 4369 (4,369) -
2020 final dividend ZZoTRERE - - = - - - - (14,400) (14,400)
At 31 December 2021 R-E2--F+-B=t+-H 2,400 62,609* 60,455* 1,115¢ 485¢ 37,559 56,605 431,673 652,901
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEREER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE_—_E_-_—F+-_A=1+—HIFE

Issued
capital

BB
-0
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2022 RZBZZ%-f-H 2,400
Profit for the year EREH
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMZERE:
Change in fair value of a financil asset —BRATEFALEEE
at fair value through other WampBEED
comprehensive income NFEEY

Exchange differences on translation of BEBNERNELEE
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year £R2ENE/(KiE) &%

Share
premium Capital
account reserve

B
Rk BARE
HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TER

62,609 60,455

Transfer from retained profits ERORERR

2021 final dividend ZE-RERE

At 31 December 2022 RZE-—&+-A=+-H 62,609 60,455¢
* Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment

enterprises, a portion of the profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is required to be transferred to the
PRC reserve funds which are restricted as to use. These PRC entities are not
required to effect any further transfer when the amount of the PRC reserve
funds reaches 50% of their registered capital. The PRC reserve funds can be
used to make good their future losses or to increase their registered capital.

# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$680,998,000 (2021: HK$650,501,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Attributable to owners of the Company
FDRERAES
Fair value
reserve

of a financial
asset through Land and

other building  Exchange

comprehensive  revaluation  fluctuation

income reserve reserve

HARBRE

*

#

it
ABEE  1HEET Eji
AVERE  BfERE  RERE  RREr
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

Fhn TR TR Fhn

1115 485 37,559 56,605

(49,332)

(49.332)

(11,773 64,899

Retained
profits

RERA
HK$'000

TR
831673

94,264

94,264
(8,294)
(14,400)

503,243

i
HK$'000
TER

652,901

94,264

(35)

(49,332)

44,897

(14,400)

683,398

RBAEINERECFRERER - B THRILNFEARKM
B(TREDOMBARNBIEFAERETEFEERES
ZERBESOMEZIR - ETERBESANSTELSE
T EE B AR A #Y 50% B - RN AR — S8R -

RS A A (E R RIS R A T ARG MM AR -

ZERBIRF 2ER A M BRRER NI S #H#680,998,000

BT (=ZZF=—%F : 650,501,000 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE_—ZT - —F+_-_HA=+—HI-FZ

2022 2021

—ZE_— ==
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mo FE&T FHET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEFBHEERE
ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax B 250 A g A 110,908 65,217
Adjustments for: AN IE=SEEEE
Finance costs A B AN 7 409 400
Bank interest income SRITH B YA 5 (2,919) (2,187)
Depreciation of property, M - BE RBEBITE
plant and equipment 6 27,693 27,367
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 6 1,937 1,946
Write-down of inventories to net WORTFE & 2 n] #15 %E
realisable value 6 131 442
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) B 5 fEU ZIE K FE UL Z 4%
of trade and bills receivables BE, CRIERE) 6 1,783 (108)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment WA MENTEEE (W)
properties 6 (€13)) 482
Amortisation of deferred income i FE U A 8 5 (2,355) (2,384)
Write-off of items of property, WEEYE - BERZREEE
plant and equipment 6 501 304
138,030 91,479
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERLGEm) 9,833 (54,906)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B 5 IE R =R
bills receivables WA, (E ) 32,175 (18,418)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,  FENTIRIE - e & H it fE U
deposits and other receivables FIER A () 4,779 (6,027)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables & 5 & {3 IB1E 10, O 4>) (27,903) 12,836
Increase/(decrease) in other payables - {th B FUE & fE=T &
and accruals =0 GRid) 10,358 (316)
Exchange realignment RS (5,615) 752
Cash generated from operations EEEKENRS 161,657 25,400
Interest received BT & 2,919 2,187
Interest paid EAALE (409) (400)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BNBEENEH (13,336) (4,571)
Overseas taxes paid EAREINIE (9,415) (3,022)
Net cash flows from operating activities & & /ZENFTFIRERE /F54 141,416 19,594
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE_-Z_—

F+A=+—AILFE

2022

—s=-=
Notes HK$’'000
B 5E THET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant

and equipment

Deposits paid for purchases of items of

REZFHRERESRE

BEWE  BENMREEB
BEYE  BWENMREEEB

property, plant and equipment Fritige
Increase in certain time and bank AT RIRITFZIEM -

deposits pledged as security for EERESTRITHER

certain banking facilities and RN 2 BT

bills payable
Net cash flows used in HEEEFTR

investing activities RemEFHE
CASH FLOWS FROM METDAERESRE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings I IRITIE X 114,632
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITE (110,659)
Principal portion of lease payments HENREEEH D 29(b) (1,703)
Dividend paid BEARE (14,400)
Net cash flows from/(used in) MEFBE (R BEL

financing activities e HE (12,130)
NET INCREASE IN CASH RERBEEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS hNEEE 121,169
Cash and cash equivalents at FYREMIREEEY

beginning of year 272,342
Effect of foreign exchange rate fEREH) T E

changes, net (15,956)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT &FXRENREEEY

END OF YEAR 377,555
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH RERBEESZEYEHIN

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

Be MRTTHS

20 377,555

RESEZRERQA / F3 2022

2021

B —F
HK$'000
T

(5,780)

(85)

(5,865)

94,785

(68,323)
(1,681)

(14,400)

10,381

24,110
244,688

3,544

272,342

272,342
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Notes to Financial Statements

ISR M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=1+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
8 July 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability.
The address of the registered office of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at Room 809-810,
Kwong Sang Hong Centre, 151-153 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of printed circuit boards.

The Company'’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Million Pearl Holdings Ltd., which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

1.

ARIREEER
ARAIRZZE—NELANBEREFSEM
R RERRBRAR o ARRIMEMIFEER
#b 4 A Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands ° AR BEH) F B & @B AE B NERE
BB 151-153 5 EAETTH 0 809-810F °

FA AREXENERERHE DRI ERER -

RRABIRHNERBEE R HMER QA (A
Frl)ER ET - E2RR - AARICEBEZERA
A RERARAEIR A B R B A R B S w K
372 Million Pearl Holdings Ltd. ©

HBIHE A F R
ARAME R AFEEMT -

Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/  Percentage of equity
registration and paid-up  attributable to the
Name business registered capital Company Principal activities
ML, ERTEERE/
=L TR KB BREAMRE AQAEGEEZEIN TBXHR
Direct  Indirect
=k &
Yan Tat Group Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$100 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
REARRES/BE 100%7T REZKR
Jumbo Height Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 = 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
ERERAR ERERRES/BE 1%7T REER
Vital Alliance Global Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
ZERRBKBR AR REERRES/ TR (E REER
Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BE(BR)EXERAR BE 5,000,000 7T BEHIRIERR
Yan Tat Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BENBBRAA BE 1,000,0007%7T ERHIRIEER
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

1. 2IAREEER®)

made by management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as these companies did not register any official

English names.

Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/  Percentage of equity
registration and paid-up attributable to the
Name business registered capital Company Principal activities
R, BRTZERE/
A8 BRI ES S E HRAMBE AAREEEZEIL FTEER
Direct Indirect
EE &
Yan Tat International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
RERBRARAR 0 18T BEEHRIERR
Yan Tat Global Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Inactive
BERFBERAT 0 BT WERER
Yan Tat Printed Circuits PRC/Mainland China HK$165,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ** of printed circuit boards
BEER(RINARRR" B/ HE R 165,000,000 % 7T SERHEHRIZER
Grace Yan Tat Electronics PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 = 100 Property holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. *#
RBEEF(RINARAA"* B/ BN ARE REDE
1,000,000 7T
Yan Tat Environmental Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB43,100,000 - 100 Property holding
(Nantong) Co., Ltd. " #
HEBERRMRAR A B /R N REDE
43,100,000 7T
Notes: B
Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. RIFPEDREEMAIEBERE -
Registered as a limited liability company under PRC law. RIEPBEEEEMABRAR -
8 The English names of these companies represent the best effort i ZENANEXERDNARREEEREFABNEERS

REPXEEAE - ERAZS QR &M ERERRE

XA o

RESEERERA

7/ F3] 2022 77



Notes to Financial Statements

ISR M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=1+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

78

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for a financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income and investment
properties which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
right results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022
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BEeEE
BAPERRBEARNG REMB AR (FHEIA
SE)BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLEFE
2K - WB AR AN R E kM ELEH
NEE(BELEEETE) ZAEEH2EE
BB R EE TS )T ) 3] R A HE R 5k = A R A A
MEEE PR BB RITEMNE S (BN AL B E R
FIRAEENAETEREHRBB TS FE
R) 2% % O R - BIES 2 HI4E -

—REBERABOEREELEE - WARRE
EAMEREEIRREVRAZHERENER
HEELERN - AIARERFEEETHEEIRE
HEMENIREEE—VHEBEERERL &8
7

(a) HEBEEHRHEMEEREANSHLH

(b) HtbAHWREELENER @ Rk

(@ AEENREEREERRE-



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=+—H

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Reference to the
Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Amendments to
2018-2020 HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,

lllustrative Examples

accompanying HKFRS

16, and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

80

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities
that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
business combinations that occurred on or after 1
January 2022. As there were no business
combinations during the year, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss.
The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after 1
January 2021. Since there was no sale of items
produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no
onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the
amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These
fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The
Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there
was no modification or exchange of the
Group's financial liabilities during the year, the
amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3

82

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Amendment to
HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2
Amendments to

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts’

Insurance Contracts'®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”) > *

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) ?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies !

Definition of Accounting
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HKAS 8 Estimates '
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction

il Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

S No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of

the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the
2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

B As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the

classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on
initial application of HKFRS 17
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements. In respect of sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate, the Group will develop an
accounting policy for such transactions.
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2.3

84

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it has
a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022

2.3 CEMEERERNEBMBREZER

(45
\ =/

BREFHERE VR (BRI BED B REIA
FAHEBR BB BRRBRIFRBNHAE
LERETERBREARNBREHRRED12(E
AERBERY - BEND BRI T EEBITE
HEMERBEEBENIRIENTE - ZFEFT
RS ERSBEEENERETES R-F
——F BEGFEAERM2022 FEFT AN
E—BBE  EERRHELENABNROT
RAEBEERHE AR ZAIAETNROER
B2ABEDERRHAKIERE - #Hh - 2022F
BAABRRBERLHEENBBELERIR
HRENERETRIINE AIEAZEREE
HBBENREHIR12EA AERETARKE
HMBE - ZEEITR T -_NF—A—HAxH
REBONFERRLER - BSEHER - TR
BrEMA - REEM 2020 FEFT AN BB L AR
B fE 2022 FERT A - RZ A - NEE B Al
EFFEETNFEARREERHAEASEFTE
EITIER] - RIBVZ G - ZFEERTEY
REBNUBRRELEAERTE -

ARG ERE 15 (BFTA) ST BEREEE R
CEREBHSARSHBERER - MIERLERZE
BOR o Wi ST BERE R R E B ARk T P
MEMER—HEE Mo AREREFE R
MBHmERIBEEMERBZSVBRRELN
RE - AIZEFBRENBERX - BEMBRE
ERNEBHREF 25 (BRI A) sLan i EAER
SEARSFTBEREERMHIFRHIERES] - TR
SRS 1REITRXIR_F_=F—A—H
Sk E R FRMFE R AR - W FFRATER °
BHREEMBRELENEBREE 25 (BRIA)
PR ftrtE sl RIrsad - Rt FERIHEAR
AMBH - REE B AT EEHER ST BORKE
AREREBERTA—2K -



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R M AL

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+—-H=+—H

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on
or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted. The Group is in the process of performing a
detailed assessment of the impact of these amendments
upon initial application. Subject to further assessment, the
amendments currently are not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements in
the period of initial application.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

86

POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and an
equity investment at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 2 —

based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

Level 3 —

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, investment properties, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and non-current assets classified as held for
sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

U]
(ii)
(il

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

90

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

2.2% to 4%
33'5%

9% to 18%
9% to 33'3%
30% to 33'5%

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress mainly represents buildings and
leasehold improvements under construction, which are
stated at cost less any impairment losses, and are not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups
and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment classified as held for sale are not
depreciated.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

92

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income are not
subject to impairment assessment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

3 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 120 days past
due.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

98

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 120 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default
based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group’s credit risk control practices and the
historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade and bills receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 1 —

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —

Simplified approach

For trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022

24 TESHHEME &)

MIBEERE(E)

—E (%)

REEHEHNEFTBH120 AN S RIEERIEE
e AEECRBEAERIENER - BFEAE
B 1= A BRI B F AR M #I90 B LA EMY 2 B
BEMELEKE - #EFEHIORMENIRE
A RPN BRI RIR - R RARERANE
ﬂf;ffkﬂiaﬁmﬁﬁ P REE DA BB HUE R
BESORE  AAXAKETARSEREER
#e 1ﬁﬁ/£/\@ﬁ,ﬁﬂl|&@é\%’ﬁﬁ$ﬁ§ + R
EREE -

REIERAT ENMBEERE —RIERE
ERTIGERREEERNERERIE - HE
Z RN FIA R EREEER T LN B0
BRAN

FHER — GEEARBVIAHEREKLE
RIRIBIMOMBHETE - BE
BRERSN12EAERE
EEENSEAE

B — EERBREVIAEREARE
b le]ﬁ]I?ﬁum_nfﬁﬁf VERIELED)
BT A HEERERS
REHEHEEHENESRE

e

RiE B HE HRERERE
E’\JEM‘%%TF({EEB%E\%Z
EZEWEEERE)
EERERS B’\Iﬁﬂiﬁ,ﬁﬁ{—
BEEENSEAE

FEEER —

L&
RTEEEAREAKEDNE S REFIAR
ﬁwmfiMﬁilﬁ%Tmﬁiﬁﬂéﬁﬁ
Mo ENAITERE AR - AEBEFERRE
f%ﬁ%ﬁ%%k& REBEBLE - ARBAE
BHMEER m“m BREHRE R RREEH
ﬁﬂmmﬁﬁ REEREE - AEEERIBIBE
EEERLR @ﬁ@ﬁﬁ@'ﬁﬁﬁﬁAﬁﬁ
FERBNREAEERRIEL AR -



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R M AL

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+—-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022

24 TESHHEME &)

RERREEEY

AEERERERME F B MREFEYERE
FRRG  EHTFRRABRERSE NHER
SIRBEHAN(—REBAKR=BEAR) T
BYESABEEEIRARNESSRBERE
BB AREREERBRNASEREEE —
BN EEFDHRITIE °

MERAMIGIARME - RekRFEVERE
FHEERTRE (BREHFEARERSHER
UNEE)  MERETZRS -

BB
HEABEEHER RS AEEECEEREES
£) EBEAEERIERINBITERE - Lok
AISEEETEAE T2 85 - AIERER -

HEMBTEENXN » RIFTHER 2 BEEERAE
BITREEMBZARRASRNBEMRZIE - B
iy R A (S R 3R 3R (B 48 1.2 BOBRT AR K o

Frig®t

PSR BN FAR TR IR - S B s A MER
EHHBZAERR BRI B2 EIR S
HEENERAER -

BIEATH IR B EE I B B 0 4R T8 HA mJ 4k [0 o) SRR =%
XN THEREANBENE - ARERBEHR
ERMHREE LR EMAHE(RBEBED) &
B UEZRIAEEEEREREFEERR
BRITRBRIED

BEREBERNBEMNREEN B ENTIALLE
RERMBHRETNREENTELERHLEEZRE
B EERAE -



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R M AL

31 December 2022 —ZE—-——#+—-H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTBERBE @)
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued) g8t (&)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable FIERAGERMEEZROREARELERIEE
temporary differences, except: f& - M

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

Revenue from the sale of printed circuit boards is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
printed circuit boards.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Determination of functional currency

In determining the functional currency of each entity of
the Group, judgement is required to determine and
consider the currency that mainly influences sales prices of
goods; the currency that mainly influences costs of
providing goods; the currency in which funds from
financing activities are generated; and the currency in
which receipts from operating activities are usually
retained, etc. The functional currency of each entity is
determined based on management’s assessment of the
primary economic environment in which the entities
operate. When the indicators are mixed and the functional
currency is not obvious, management uses its judgement
to determine the functional currency that most faithfully
represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

3.

EESTHE R A

BEAEENTHEHRREZREREELTE
Wt X BERBBEZREHANENGHE
HYF B - At R - WARBERARE - %F
R % Ko i &1 RO S BA BA R 32 AT RE 8 BUR I R R 3
XYENEESABNREEFEHEARBE

F

RERARREN ST BERBRET © RS RMATR
R HETS - BIREERATHEMBHRRPE
TR G EATZENHE -

EEREES
EETAEBSERNIEERR - FHEETE
RERITEFEEMMNHEERNER  T2¥
ERHUEMRANESR  BELIDHESHNER
REERHBEMPDNES - SERNIIES
KIRAREREEHEREZEMEN I RLER
BHFHE o HEETORE RINEER TR - Bl
EEENRHEEEREERRREARS - 5
1 RAGIF RO ERR A BE R

fhEt TEAMAEE

% R o N e o HA R & EL A 3 2 h S A REE 1
KBRLRBEAIGESIHEERBBRAGR T —
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Measurement of an unlisted equity investment at fair
value

The fair value of an unlisted equity investment that is not
traded in an active market is estimated by management
with reference to valuation performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer by using valuation technique
that requires various sources of information and
assumptions. The carrying amount of the Group’s unlisted
equity investment at 31 December 2022 was
HK$4,019,000 (2021: HK$4,440,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@)  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences; and

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31
December 2022 was HK$26,868,000 (2021:
HK$29,293,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement are given in
note 14 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amount
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value is required after
considering, inter alia, the ageing analysis of the Group’s
inventories, current market conditions and the expected
future sales of goods and usage of materials. Write-down
of inventories will be made when the estimated net
realisable values of inventories decline below their carrying
amounts. Net realisable values of inventories are based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal. These estimates are
made with reference to the current market conditions and
the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. Actual selling prices and
saleability/usage of goods/materials might be different
from estimations and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in the estimations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and bills
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade and bills receivables. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade and bills receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding tax in
respect of certain unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries of the Group established in Mainland China to
the extent that the directors are of the opinion that it
would be probable for distribution in the foreseeable
future. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that should
be recognised. Further details are contained in note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Recognition of deferred tax assets primarily involves
management judgement and estimations regarding the
taxable profits of the entities in which the losses arose.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group focused primarily on the manufacture and sale
of printed circuit boards during the year. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the Group's resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no operating segment information
is presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Geographical information
(@) Revenue from external customers

4,

BESIER (#)
HEER

(a) REMBEFHWES

2022
—E-—F
HK$'000
THET

Mainland China R B AT
Europe BN
Hong Kong 6
North America JEZEM
Asia (except Mainland China and

Hong Kong)
Africa e
Oceania AAEM
South America EES

SM (T EEFERLREE)

282,845
197,528
4,446

69,486

183,568
5,563
60

116

743,612

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers who placed the orders.

(b) Non-current assets

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FHET

300,949
199,716
7,236
51,465

199,119
5,158
154

39

763,836

B s EMTIER TETENE PR

iy -
(b) FRBEE

2022
—_E__

HK$'000

FHBxT

Hong Kong 6
Mainland China FR B A

2,838
324,420

327,258

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes a financial
asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue is set out below:

2021
SEEDS T
HK$'000
FHET

2,485
380,683

383,168

LlSERBEEERIENEEMELS
5 BNEE-ERATVEFARMEE
W 5 E ERRIERIREE ©

FEEEEFNESR

KEBEEREFP A EAKEMER 10% kA

B)EHT ¢

2022
—E—=

HK$'000

FET

Z2EA
ZFEB

Customer A
Customer B

184,774
88,968

273,742

RESEZRERQA / F3 2022

2021

e il
HK$'000
FHET

221,099
102,638

S28s/3
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5.

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information — timing
of transfer of goods
The Group's timing of transfer of goods in respect of
its entire revenue is at a point in time.

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of printed circuit boards

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the printed circuit boards and payment is generally
due within 30 to 90 days from delivery.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as

Wi - HttWA R WK
REEFEHZ W
() 2DFBRHER —EBEWHRRD

REER WA EYEBREAE—F
% o

(i) BITEE
ARAEERTEENERMT R T

HHE IR EEEIR
BATEER R ENRERRARIZZRK - i
FOBE B X IAEFT30E 90 HAEE] -

st - BAMA RIS ATREIT -

follows:
2021
—E -
HK$'000
FHEIT
Revenue from contracts with REREEEHz WS
customers
Sale of goods HEEm 763,836
Other income Hug A
Bank interest income RITH S WA 2,187
Rental income e WA 604
Government grants” R #R B 5,985
Income linked to recycling EEEE N 10,368
Others Hih _
19,144
Gains U &=
Fair value gain on investment properties HEYHE 2 A FEKRS -
Foreign exchange gains, net VE 5 W 55 E =
19,144

The government grants recognised during the year mainly
represented grants received from certain government authorities of
the PRC in recognition of the Group’s efforts in environmental
awareness and protection and technological development. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants
recognised during the year.

110 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022

" F A RERHOTUT 4 R 2 B WU B B TEF B K

FEEBPIEE H VRS - MRIBARBERF BB KR E R
BMBEREDENSE N - BEAEZEHENREK
PR BRIV F AR -



PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):
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6. FBRBLADEF

Notes
=S
Cost of inventories sold*® BEEFERA e
Auditor’s remuneration =% EREM BN &
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BB REETE
equipment 13
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEEITE 15(a)
Employee benefit expense® (including EERARZ(BIEHKE
directors’ and chief executive’s R E8MEENRER
remuneration as disclosed in note 8): 1TEABEE) :
Wages, salaries, allowances, bonuses, I%& - %Fe 28
commission and benefits in kind 4 e EYREA
Pension scheme contributions R
(defined contribution schemes)** (FEBMEFRETE]) **
Other employee benefits HiE S 1E 7
Research and development costs* 9 R B Rk s #
Write-off of items of property, plant VI - BB REEIEE
and equipment i H 13
Write-down of inventories to WREEZE
net realisable value” A IRHE"
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment wEYENTEEE,
properties* (Yeas) *
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B 5 e WSRO K e W ZE %
trade and bills receivables BE, CRIEEE) 18
Foreign exchange differences, net* M H, 2= 505 RE *

2022

—E—=
HK$'000

FERx

562,835
2,143

95,253

230
8,752

104,235

11,964
501

131

(58)

1,783
(10,241)

AEEOBRBATEME HER,GEA) -

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHET

620,842
2,153

27,367
1,946

83,952

230
3,778

87,960

9,433
304
442
482

(108)
2,244

BESEERARAT / £3] 2022 111



Notes to Financial Statements

ISR M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_H=+—H

112

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

*

##

* %

These gains are included in “Other income and gains” and the
losses are included in “General and administrative expenses”, as
appropriate, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The gain is included in “Other income and gains” and the loss is
included in “Other expenses”, as appropriate, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Employee benefit expense of HK$55,752,000 (2021:
HK$42,595,000) is included in “Cost of inventories sold” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in “Cost
of inventories sold” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Research and development costs are included in “General and
administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 31
December 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions available
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years
(2021: Nil).

FINANCE COSTS

BRB

*

##

A& A ()

REEBREXR  RFREFATRMERARKE] - M
BEERRETA [—RETERAX I (ER) -

REEBREXR  RFREFATRMBERARKE] - M
EBRAGA (BRI (ER) -

R 4R & 8 2 & 0 55,752,000 T( = T = — F:
42,595,000/ 70) M {E BB At Al B EFEMA]

RRAEHRE  MAFEEIERFEAA [BREFE
BAR]

RiZaBER  BRRBEREAFA TR RITEHA
%] e

HEDRRERAHAEEEAEEANROEA R
FOKE - RZFB==F+=-A=1—8  HEDUK4
ARAHAEER O EARRFENEAKFEHR(ZF
—ZF |-

& R AR

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHET

Interest on: AR EIEHFE
Bank loans and trust receipt loans RITERREFTBRIEER 305
Lease liabilities HEaE 95
400
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFETHAEHMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BAREE A B A EmARA ([ EMRAL) - BERQ
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of RAEBIZE383(1)@) ~ (b) * (QRMOIEREBRA A
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules"”), BEEENZER) RAE _BEENTFEES R
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong FETHRABFMEIIAOT ¢

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021
—E-CF —E_—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THT
Fees & 1,968 1,428
Other emoluments: E Aot B
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e REREYEN 6,148
Commission H& 4,377
Pension scheme contributions RIREFT MR 18
10,543
11,971
(a) Independent non-executive directors () BIUFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FABNBYIENTES2BRANAT :
during the year were as follows:
2022 2021
-2 — 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming EERALAE 204 204
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu ER e R e 4 204 204
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 212 55 & 204 204
612 612
There were no other emoluments payable to the FARERENIEZIFNTER Z EfhEH B
independent non-executive directors during the year (Z2=—%:8])-
(2021: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERITETHAEHFM®)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) HTESE - FHFTEERETETHA
director and the chief executive 8

Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind Commission contributions remuneration

& BER EiRE
- {ii BENRIR s HE-E3 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TART TERT FTART

2022 —BC-CE
Executive directors: HITER:
Mr. Chan Wing Yin* BREB A&+
Mrs. Chan Yung REzL
Mr. Chan Yan Wing BREKELE

Non-executive director: FHITES
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong REXEAE

2021 —E--F
Executive directors: HATESR:
Mr. Chan Wing Yin* BRESE 4 * 204 2,355 - = 2,559
Mrs. Chan Yung BREZ+ 204 1,917 - - 2,121
Mr. Chan Yan Wing BREKEAE 204 1,515 4,377 18 6,114
612 5,787 4,377 18 10,794
Non-executive director: FHITES
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong BRELEAE 204 361 - - 565
816 6,148 4,377 18 11,359
4 Mr. Chan Wing Yin is also the chief executive officer of the o PBRER B S A IRAR AN A RIFTEUARE
Company.
There was no arrangement under which a director or FABELERFEESTHEFETHAER
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any ENRERETMHMN T ——F : &) -

remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IEEAFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FAREGRTNEEBE =2 (2T =_—%:
three directors (2021: three directors), details of whose =FZ)EE HFEMFBHN LEXHES - &1
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the MBE(ZE=—F : MAB) =5 oiES (BEIER
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2021: RRAEEMIEEETHAER) RERNEEFS
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director FRALADT ¢

nor the chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2021
PR =
HK$'000
FH&TT
Salaries and allowances e KRB 3,250
Pension scheme contributions RIRE B 36
3,286
The number of non-director and non-chief executive FTHENATHENRSEHFNES GEES KIE

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within FETHRAE) ABHIMAT
the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EE®E

2021
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T <
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %% 1,500,000 % 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7L % 2,000,000 % 7T 1

2

The non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FEERIFFETHABN TR HMNEE A
employees are also members of senior management of the REBSREEENKE °
Group.

BREEEERERAD / £52022 115



Notes to Financial Statements

ISR M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=1+—H

10.

116

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2021: 8.25%) and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2021:
16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

The provision for land appreciation tax has been estimated
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
laws and regulations. Land appreciation tax has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable deductions.

All subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC are
subject to PRC corporate income tax at a standard rate of
25% (2021: 25%) during the year, except for a subsidiary
of the Group which qualified as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in Mainland China and a lower PRC
corporate income tax rate of 15% (2021: 15%) has been
applied for the year.

10.

g%t
ERFERIIRFEARB B E LG ERMR
A 16.5% (ZEZ—4 : 16.5%) 5TIRR4E -
HEREBH—FEHBRFIRRIN 0 ZARABFTAR
BHEFESHEREHNENEE - ZMBAREE
2,000,000 7t (=& — — 4 : 2,000,0007% 7T )
Y JE 2 70 i A48 8.25% (—Z T = —4F : 8.25%)
HF R - HRERTEM AR 165% (=ZF
——F 1 16.5%) T REF o EAbih R A FERR
T A IA B R IR AN 5 B & 48 T £ )4 HE & /Y
RITRREETE -

TR EN 2 BE D IR AR BB KRB
R EER MR - DHBETIIEEEERR
EHT AR BRR - WEERE 2 EE R
e

FA - REBERPBEKIZNAE KB QRAR
25% (—F = — 5 : 25%) VIR ER KGR A E
EEREH - EARE KB A RETEAL
HERMBEMERERNER  RFERRRENPE
EMEME15% (ZEZ—F : 15%) EF -

2021
—E-—4F
HK$'000
T
Current — Hong Kong BUER — &%
Charge for the year FAZH 4,589
Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior BEFEBRETR (B
years ) 7,843
Current — Mainland China BNER — A [ A
Charge for the year FAZH 4,566
Overprovision in prior years B FEEBRERE (565)
Deferred (note 25) IEE (FI3E25) 2,540
Total tax charge for the year FABIEX HERE 18,973
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

11.

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for Hong Kong in which
the principal place of business of the Company and certain
of its major subsidiaries is located, to the tax charge at the

10.

FRi&%E (@)

BARRRETEIZWNEBAREEEEMH
IRZE B HATE B R 51 B8 AR BR B A i F #Y 3%
REZRERREAENOTENEER - #7007 :

effective tax is as follows:

2021
==
HK$’000
FAT
Profit before tax B 758 A1 g ) 65,217
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax BEBETEHRE16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (ZF=—%F :16.5%)
TENIA 10,761
Effect of different tax rates for R B R A N [R) AR R
specific entities in the PRC LB (755)
Adjustment in respect of current ot 8 7 HA T BN EA R I8 A B
tax of previous periods 7,278
Income not subject to tax BRI WA (20)
Expenses not deductible for tax R 2 B2 1,946
Effect of withholding tax at 5% AR B0 Ff @8 A Bk AT 00k e )
on the distributable profits of 128 5% KT K FE IR T 1R
a PRC subsidiary EENTE 2,541
Additional deduction for research 3% N 35 R A AN BB IR
and development costs (2,910)
Others EAh 132
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate IR ANEE BT R EHFIE 18,973

DIVIDEND

1. RE

The Board recommended to declare a final dividend of
HK12.0 cents (2021: HK6.0 cents) per ordinary share,
equivalent to a total amount of HK$28,800,000 (2021:
HK$14,400,000), for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EE BB E S F+t-A=1+—
BIEEEHNRARE SRR 12.081(=ZF
——%F : 6.0781l) - 2ZEMEE R 28,800,000 5T
(ZZ=——% : 14,400,000 7T) °

REEHNEZFRAKREAFARBRRRER
BERBERS EHE - HAMEER -
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. XAREERGEEABLERER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

COMPANY
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for FARRAEBERFTEARGZERERE
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the MEENRBERAAA L BERTEABLEEA
Company is based on the profit for the year attributable to i A1 94,264,000 78 7T ( —F = —F : 46,244,000
ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$94,264,000 BLT)IRANFEEHETEBRIMNE T H
(2021: HK$46,244,000) and the weighted average number 240,000,000 i ( — = — — 4 : 240,000,000 % )
of ordinary shares of 240,000,000 (2021: 240,000,000) in SHE o
issue during the year.
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per HRAREEREE - E-_—_FRrR-_E-_—F+=
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December A=+T—HALEEWTEAEERSWE LB
2022 and 2021 in respect of a dilution as the Group had TEBRR  MUEREEEIHZSFREDN 2
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during these BREREF CRIELHAE
years.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BERSZE

Furniture,
landand  Construction Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings ~inprogress improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
BE Bz
THRET HRIR HE%E  HEREE  HERRG RE &t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER TER TER TR TR TER TER

At 1 January 2022: WZB--%-f-R:
Cost A 204,728 71535 24,948 295,901 29477 7,705 634,294
Accumulated depreciation 2:thE (55,567) - (20,629) (177,944) (25,827) (7.227) (287,194)
Net carrying amount REFE 149,161 71,535 4319 117,957 3,650 478 347,100
At 1 January 2022, net of R=F-=§-A-R"

accumulated depreciation EMREGHE 149,161 71,535 117,957 347,100
Additions AE - 323 2,408 4,147
Write-off HisE - (449) (44) (501)
Transfer B 34,369 (34,369) - -
Deprediation provided ERfERE

during the year (9,456) - (16,558) (27,693)
Exchange realignment ERRE (13,627) (4,684) (10,787) (29,786)

At 31 December 2022, net of RZF-=

accumulated depreciation +-A=t-R:
BB 2GS 293,267
At 31 December 2022: NZB-Z
+-R=1-H
Cost A 220,388 32,35 24,087 21479 27,363 7461 583,134
Accumulated depreciation ZHE (59,941) - (20,116) (178,503) (24,175) (VAKY)] (289,867)
Net carrying amount RAFE 160,447 32,356 39N 92,976 3,188 329 293,267
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F+—-HA=1+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

13. W% - BERRE®

Furniture,
landand  Construction Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
buildings in progress  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
A EE
THREF EEIE HERE  HREREE  KERRHE i @t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL Tt T TH TAT T TAL
At 1 January 2021; W=8=-f-B-R:
Cost AR 206,012 69,634 21414 283,037 28,486 7,688 616,271
Accumulated depreciation 2itihE (50,270) - (19,040) (156,644) (23,700 (6,881) (256,535)
Net carrying amount BEFE 155,742 69,634 2374 126,393 4,786 807 359,736
At 1 January 2021, net of A2 —4-A-B"
accumulated depreciation BMRZiE 155,742 69,634 2374 126,393 4,786 807 359,736
Additions NE - - 2,889 4873 251 55 8,068
Write-off s o © = (256) - (48) (304)
Depreciation provided during ERNFERE
the year (7422) o (1,043) (17,048) (1,502) (352) (27,367)
Bxchange realignment & 5 3% 4,460 1,901 99 3,995 115 16 10,586
Reclassification as assetsheld B HEARIELEL
for sale (note 21) BE(fiE21) (3619 = = 5 = = (3619
At31December 2021, netof ~ W=F=_—%
accumulated depreciation +-A=+-8-
Bk EsE 149,161 71,535 4319 117,957 3,650 478 347,100
At 31 December 2021: i3
t-A=1+-R:
Cost KR 204,728 71,535 24,948 295,901 29,477 7,705 634,294
Accumulated depreciation 2:H0E (55,567) = (20,629) (177,944) (25,827) (7227) (287,194)
Net carrying amount REFE 149,161 71,535 4319 117,957 3,650 478 347,100

RESEEZERAERDA / £ 2022

119



Notes to Financial Statements

ISR M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=1+—H

14.

120

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REYHE
2021
T —4F
HK$’'000
FHT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HMNEmEE 28,933

Net gain/(loss) from a fair value NEEFAR W (EB) F5E

adjustment (note 6) (Mt7xe) (482)
Exchange realignment PE i % 842
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—HB®EEE 29,293

The Group’s investment properties consist of residential
properties and a commercial property in the PRC.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2022 based on valuations performed by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at HK$26,868,000 (2021:
HK$29,293,000). Each year, the Group's chief financial
officer decides, after approval from the directors, to
appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the
external valuations of the Group's investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s chief financial officer has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results twice a year when the valuations are
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

The investment properties consisting of a commercial
property and residential properties are leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details of
which are included in note 15 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, an investment property of the
Group with a carrying amount of HK$6,034,000 (2021:
HK$6,862,000) was pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 24).

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022

AEENEEMEBETRNEENER—E
ERmE -

AREFNREMER B -_—_F+-_A=1+—
AREABY EEA AR GEMM BB R
HER A RRIT 2 1H1E26,868,0008 (==
Z——% 129,293,000 7)) EFHE - BELE
$E@%ﬁt>&?§ & [E B IS AR B R TE SNEE A (B B A
# LB EAEEREYENINEELIE - B
‘%ﬁlJa%ﬁmiﬁ%u;% BE . CBIULRERFE
;i;%&,ﬂ\u BEFERTHHRFEMEHRE
MBITHER  ASETKEESHEERRE
HESHMNEREHERMETR °

H—ERAYEREEYEEARNIZRE YRR
CEHOBTE=F  ERRRERNEERATE
RERMIFES o

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H8  AEEBEAE
/46,034,000 7(=ZF = —4F : 6,862,000757T)
22— BIREMECKIFEARNEBER IR
TER 2R (MIFE24) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REWE(E)
Fair value hierarchy AEERBR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TERAFAREEREYENATEFEBR

hierarchy of the Group'’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement using

ERAATHABBNAVERE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
RERT S EXTEE EATTHE
#HE (PN ¢: (PN ¢

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—#%) (E=#R) =) #st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TET
Recurring fair value AT BIENL TS
measurement for: REEE
At 31 December 2022 RZT=Z=F
+-HA=1+—H
Commercial property ElakES 6,034 6,034
Residential properties EEME 20,834 20,834
26,868 26,868
At 31 December 2021 RZT=—%F
+-A=1+—H
Commercial property A - - 6,862 6,862
Residential properties FEWE - - 22,431 22,431
- - 29,293 29,293
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value R F-REE-_RoAGEEELQTETE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no MER  F=ANEEAREL (=T =_—F:
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021: Nil). ) o
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14.

122

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised

14. BEWE &)
DNFEER(E)

DHEERTVFEERTE=ANAFEFENY

within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: R -
Commercial Residential
property properties
[ERik/ES =y
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 R-ZE——F—H—HNEEE 6,678 22,255
Net loss from a fair value adjustment RiBmPERN A EFE
recognised in profit or loss B tE 5 (13) (469)
Exchange realignment b 5, 197 645
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 HR-_ZT-_—F+-_A=1+—Hx
and 1 January 2022 —E__F—-—H—-HHOEREE 6,862 22,431
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value PR RN A E AR
adjustment recognised in profit or loss Wzt (518 38 257 316
Exchange realignment PE 5 = (571) (1,913)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 @ HR-ZE-—F+-A=+—HH
FRmEE 6,034 20,834
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and
the key inputs to the valuation of the investment

REWE )

DFEERE)
AT ARENEHEMANGEERTREZE
ABIRHME

properties:
Significant
Investment properties Fair value Valuation unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy technique input Range
REEFAN ERFUEHE
REMHE NP EER fE{E WARE gE
Commercial property Level 3 Sales comparison Estimated price per RMB23,268 to
in Mainland China method square metre RMB31,412
(2021: RMB25,016 to
RMB30,786)
TR B A3 2 7 R W 5 FE=MR HE LBV FFIHK AR 23,268 TE
EEHER AR¥31,4127T
—T -5
AR# 25,016 TE
AR¥ 30,786 7T)
Residential properties Level 3 Sales comparison Estimated price per RMB40,000 to
in Mainland China method square metre RMB49,813
(2021: RMB40,426 to
RMB51,282)
R B 2 (FEWH E=R SHE LLBOA BRI AK AR 40,000 TE
T ER AR¥49,8137T
kSt S
AR#& 40,426 TE

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated price per
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. The investment properties are valued using the
sales comparison method having regard to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market. The
valuations take into account the characteristics of the
properties which include the location, size, floor level, year
of completion and other factors collectively.

AR#51,2827T)

FF 7K EREERAREE N ORL) 1§
BHREYEN D TEREEM OfD) - RE
VIEAHELLBOAGE - EhZEEREETSA
HUEBWREHERS - (HESBEBERMEN
BEFHBRELE K BE  ERFOHNUR
HipAZx -
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain properties and a
vehicle. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased lands from the owners with lease
periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
certain properties generally have lease terms of 2 years.

15. A&

REBEER/EBEA

fHEAEE -

Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

AEBEBAETYERIBENEESH - —RM%
MREENTFHRAEANBSGEE L - BB
506 - BRBEXZS L HHEGRRERFEX
ETYFHENHERBBRE RN
Feo—RME  AKRETERAAKEZIIALE
EROHHEERE -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use REA - AEBRFERAEEERAMBENR
assets and the movements during the year are as BEOT :
follows:
Leasehold
lands Properties Total
HE L " A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT
As at 1 January 2021 R—E-_—F—F—H 4,538 2,525 7,063
Additions INE - 1,326 1,326
Depreciation charge WERY (254) (1,692) (1,946)
Exchange realignment b 5 S E 130 - 130
As at 31 December 2021 RZBE-_—F+-A=+—"HBK
and 1 January 2022 —E-_F%—A—H 4,414 2,159 6,573
Additions NE - 2,058 2,058
Depreciation charge WERX (245) (1,692) (1,937)
Exchange realignment 0E i R (365) = (365)
As at 31 December 2022 NRZE__F
+—RA=+—H 3,804 2,525 6,329
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREBEA(E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEARE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the RERN - HEAENREEREHAT :

movements during the year are as follows:

2022 2021
—ZE=-= =EE e
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—AMNREE 2,190 2,545
New leases EE 2,058 1,326
Accretion of interest recognised FRERERFSIE N
during the year VE] 95
Payments (NE:N (1,776) (1,776)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=ZA=+—H&EEE 2,545 2,190
Analysed into: BB SR -
Current portion BIEAZR 7> 1,580 1,623
Non-current portion FERNERER 965 567
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in THE A BB EI S T H B % 3R BT 5E 35 4%
note 35 to the financial statements. -
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation () HHEERBEZEINST|WOT :

to leases are as follows:

2022 2021

—=E=-= s 1=

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FHTT

Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 73 95

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {# & ETE L H 1,937 1,946

Total amount recognised in profit or loss  FEs R R A% 2,010 2,041

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d HELRSTLEBRAMBREMZE

29(b) to the financial statements. 29(b) °
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15. LEASES (continued) 15

16.

17.

126

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of a commercial property and nine residential
properties in the PRC under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the
Group during the year was HK$538,000 (2021:
HK$604,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

. HE @

AEBEEBEAA
AEERBELEHETHRTPEEAELEY
% (WsE14)  RIE—EERMERNEEEYD
¥ c ZEHEZBER—MEKBEIMRES ©
AEBRFARE ERES WA A538,000E8 7T
(ZZT——1%F : 604,000 7T) * ARAEIBEHNE
SRR FES ©

R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—8 AEEREHEL
FAPE Z T A HUSE A& & E 7 R R AR A fE UL R
BRIRAENRET ¢

2022 2021
—E-—F —TE_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

With one year —FRA
After one year but within two years —F A EEMEARN

552 476
149 =

701 476

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

. BAOVESARMEARSNMBEE

2022 2021
=== T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHT

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value R A F(EFIERIIE F THRERE 4,019 4,440

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the
Group considers the investment to be strategic in nature.

BRI R A BB R A FE A
H A2 Ela - AR R A1 A B AR
go

INVENTORIES 17. 7E&
2022 2021
—E=-= TR T ks
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Raw materials =M 26,112 47,539
Work in progress ER G 13,344 16,547
Finished goods X 47,624 39,998

87,080 104,084
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

BEZREREREBRRERE

2021
=EE = =%
HK$'000
FHTT

Trade receivables =) G
Bills receivable R EE

227,634
32,416

Impairment AR

260,050
(3,310)

256,740

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance may be required. The Group maintains a defined
credit policy and credit periods are usually granted ranging
from one to four months from the month-end of the date
of invoice to customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade and bills
receivables. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEBRETFORHIEFREBRREBREE - EH
BEPRATRRBFIRIN - REBEREEEK
R BEAFFPRLEHFEAHE AARET—
ENEANEER - AREABLHREERKK
BB UREREEERR - aRE
EEEREZANGER AKRETENEEFE
WHREREUEEFEEANERRKEMEER
ErgZhE - EZRBFIARBREBESTE -

RBEHR - B ZRUGIARERRBERIEHER
BHRINGEEREHRORERDTHIIAT

2021

T el
HK$'000
T

Within one month —(EAR

One to two months — = W& A
Two to three months WZE=1E A
Over three months HBiE=18 A

103,743
72,119
61,001
19,877

256,740
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EFRUNREREBWRERE (&)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B 5 e WK IE K e W AR 1 B 1B B B & 5
trade and bills receivables are as follows: m
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At 1 January w—HA—H 3,310 3,338
Impairment loss/(reversal of BEEE,/ (BERE
impairment loss), net (note 6) E18) F58 (f3Ee) 1,783 (108)
Amount written off as uncollectible T sH A AU B H 5K IR - (11)
Exchange realignment PE 5 2 (269) 91
At the end of year FR 4,824 3,310
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting AREBNEIRE B EAF BB EEEETRESD
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit T AT EEHEEEE - BERDENRZEA
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for BHLUEEERNEZE S I/ER M B E K e
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss T o B ERMASRE R EEBBAES
patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable and - ERTEG R AR RGBSR TERAIN S R AR
supportable information that is available at the reporting B AR o
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk T #EH5 R AR EEEEEANEESZ S ERS

exposure on the Group’s trade and bills receivables using a B ENEEmMENEERBRIEE
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

Past due

A

Less than 1to3 3to12 impaired
Current 1 month months months receivables
EERE

B8 SR1EA 123fA 3E128R  EUE

Expected credit loss rate ~ FEHAIE B

B 0.01% 0.03% 1.63% 30.77% 100%
Gross carrying amount HBERHE(E
(HK$'000) (F&x) 192,820 17,250 2,769 13 4,750 217,602
Expected credit losses HHEEES

(HK$'000) (F#T) 19 6 45 4 4,750 4,824
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EZEUWHEREWRE (&)
As at 31 December 2021 R-B-_—-%+-A=+-—H
Past due
bkt
Credit-
Less than 1t03 3t0 12 impaired
Current 1 month months months  receivables Total
EERIE
e AMEA 123188 3E1288 REARFUR A&t
Expected credit loss rate  FBER{ZEE
B 0.02% 0.07% 0.24% 2.05% 100% 1.27%
Gross carrying amount BB
(HK$'000) (F%&71T) 189,522 60,717 6,168 440 3,203 260,050
Expected credit losses HREEEEE
(HK$'000) (F#T) 40 43 15 9 3,203 3,310
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. ERRIE RERHMERFIE
RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
—E-= SEEE = —%E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current ENHA
Prepayments TEFIE 5,160 10,367
Deposits and other receivables e R H M EW IR 390 604
5,550 10,971
Non-current FEBNHEA
Deposits for purchases of items of BEMHE  KEREREEEN
property, plant and equipments by geia -
Deposits e 202
202
The financial assets included in the above balances relate gt R P B S B D G A0 RC SR Y FE UK
to receivables for which there was no history of default HENRBRARIBER R _FR T —
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2022 and FTZA=1—H EBERBEEEEETGEALE
2021, the loss allowance was assessed by management to 1 o
be minimal.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

130

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

20. RERBEE/YUREBEREFR

2021
—E-—fF
Note HK$'000
B3 AR
Cash and bank balances He MIRITHE 272,342
Pledged deposits EHERER 32,100
304,442
Less: B
Pledged time and bank deposits ATIRITRVE 2 2RI
for certain banking facilities FHRIBITER 24 (32,100)
Cash and cash equivalents for the S EARREMS 2
purpose of the consolidated ReRREEEY
statement of financial position 272,342

At 31 December 2022, the cash and bank balances and
pledged deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi
("RMB"”) amounted to HK$118,757,000 (2021:
HK$123,459,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

R-ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H KXEERZRARE
(TAREDFEMNE S RRTELARE K
17 7 A&118,757,00008 T( — E = — & -
123,459,000 7C) - ARBINSEREHRAEH
fth & - HEAR 4 AR B A 3 2 NP B TR AR 1 A I 4
E EELRNESERTE  AEEEEERBA
EREETTIINEER 2RITBEAREBEIBRAE
fth & ¥ o

ETRITASRE BRITHERFXREULEH
EME - RITERMECERERCEREERY
Ko $E30 HAGR )RR SRV ERAT o
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21. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited (“YT Industrial”) is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On 8
May 2020, the Group entered into, amongst others, a
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”)
with certain independent third parties, pursuant to which
the relevant parties have conditionally agreed to cooperate
in connection with an urban renewal project, which
comprises of certain arrangements involving certain target
land parcels and related premises currently owned by the
Group. The Cooperation Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder (the “Transactions”) were
approved by the shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting held on 14 July 2020.
Further details of the Cooperation Agreement and the
Transactions are also set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 15 May 2020, 14 July 2020, 24
June 2022, 14 October 2022 and 1 December 2022, and
the Company’s circular dated 24 June 2020 (the “circular”).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, in respect of one
of the target land parcels and the buildings erected
thereon (the “Target Land and Buildings”) currently owned
by a subsidiary of YT Industrial, the Group shall sell the
entire equity interest in YT Industrial (the “Disposal of YT
Industrial”). As at 31 December 2022, as Urban Renewal
Approval (as defined in the circular) has not yet been
obtained, the Disposal of YT Industrial has not been
materialised. In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding
certain delays, the Disposal of YT Industrial, including the
relevant underlying assets in accordance with terms of the
“Relevant Assets”), i
expected to be completed within one year from 31
December 2022. Accordingly, the Relevant Assets
(including the Target Land and Buildings) were classified as

Cooperation Agreement (the

held for sale as at 31 December 2022.

The major class of assets classified as held for sale as at 31

December 2022 is as follows:

21.

DERBFFHENEE

BE(FEB)BEERAB(BEEXE]) BEAR
REEZEE2ENEAR - R _EFHANR -
REBRETBIE=HI(EFBE)AE
Wk ([S1ERz]D @ Bt BTN EBIEE
EER—IBHMEIIBE#ETEE  BESRA
SEEMBANSE TEZHRKABEYENS
TFZHE - At EREBETRETR S ([ZE
B NEEARABER_-_ZT_F Etﬂ+@
BET2REERIAE LibE - BREA (ERZ
ZERDHHE—SHEBNIHANER ﬂa%%*
T-_TFRFA+HEA - —E-_TF+A+MIA -
T FRNAZtHABE 2 —F+A+HW
H —ZE-—F+ - —HANRAEKHBA-Z
—TEXNA-tHBERNEEK(EK]) -

BIEAIEHS  RBHEEEE —BHEBAF
BENEF —RBEEMmEMERE FAEF(H
ErRIEF])  AEBRBHERETENEI
E(TBEEXHESRE]) RE_—F+=
A=+—8" m?ﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂmﬁﬁﬁu)
BPEBEHEZTHNARE -EERE &
[FE TR HEE%5E$EQEEWA¢
HRERNEREE(HEEE])) BHER =
T —F+-_A=+—HEHFRATK - A
It HEEE(REEELHEAEFT) R _-Z
T E+ - A=t+—HEARBELE -

R=F_—F1t_HA=+-HRARKELE
MEZEEBBT :

2021

it ke
HK$'000
FETT

Property, plant and equipment

e NG

3,619
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22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. ESEMNARIE

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of RIEBR - B S RNRIBIREEE A AR

the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as AITEFIAT

follows:

2022 2021
—=E_— - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT T

Within three months =@AR 89,194 121,702

Three to six months =Z=R @A 13,351 13,986

Over six months @7 A A 801 2,318

103,346 138,006

The trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing B O RNFIEREER T ERBERERH

and are normally settled within three months from the B A& AT =8 A R -

month-end of the date of invoice.

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HiWENSREREFER
2022 2020
—E-—F T
HK$"000 HK$'000
THERT T

Current BNEA

Other payables Hib e IE 18,717 23,506

Accruals Bzt & A 47,166 39,508

Deferred income” RIEYT A 2,399 2,470

68,282 65,484

Non-current FEBNHA

Contractual amount received* BWE L FE* 111,950 122,310

Deferred income” EIEU A" 8,330 11,723

120,280 134,033

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an Hip e RE AT R - FHER A=A -

average term of three months.

" Deferred income mainly represented (i) special funds of 2 BRI A E B () BT E Bt s s kR IR R
HK$3,142,000 (2021: HK$4,203,000) granted by PRC government F 2 4ERRE4S 3,142,0005 7T (= = —4 : 4,203,000
authorities in relation to the construction of sewage treatment BIT) (NP EBNE B AEEEE S T RI5K
facilities; (i) special funds of HK$487,000 (2021: HK$534,000) RIBHRRIR T R £ 487,000 (T - —4F :
granted by PRC government authorities in relation to the Group's 534,000/ 7T) : R(iPEBNEBHAE@ES ST
purchase of certain energy saving and sewage treatment machines; R IEFH M SR I2 T 2 455k 54 7,100,000 T (=2
and (iii) special funds of HK$7,100,000 (2021: HK$9,456,000) ——4F : 9,456,000 7T) ° ZIBIETEWRARE YL
granted by PRC government authorities in relation to the Group's B K& e TBHA R A Hi N B 2E TR -

purchase of certain machines for technology advancement. The
deferred income is recognised in profit or loss over the expected
useful lives of the relevant property, plant and equipment.

* Being amount received pursuant to certain conditions of the * HEARIE A B S E TR R 25 (aE21) »
Cooperation Agreement (note 21).
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2022
—B_C
Contractual
interest
rate (p.a.)
ELETIES
Current BN
Secured trust receipt loans due for repayment within LIBOR + 1.5%
one year which contain repayment on demand clauses®
AN-ERERNAEREHREEN LIBOR! + 1.5%
(BAREREREN)
i London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR")
2 Based on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the respective
loan agreements/banking facility letters
E Denominated in HK$ or US$

Certain of the Group’s bank loan agreements contain
repayment on demand clauses and the corresponding
bank loans as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Ignoring the effect of any repayment
on demand clauses and based on the maturity terms of
these loans, the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the
Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are repayable
within one year.

Notes:

(a) Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by (i) the
Group's investment property with a carrying amount of
HK$6,034,000 (2021: HK$6,862,000) (note 14); and (i) pledged
deposits with banks amounting to HK$31,522,000 (2021:
HK$32,100,000) (note 20).

(b) Included in the bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 are
borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$35,983,000
(2021: HK$32,010,000) which are denominated in US$.

StRBT R
2021
=E==
Contractual
interest
HK$'000 rate (p.a.) Maturity> ~ HK$'000
TEx BNENE 38R TAL
35,983 LIBOR" + 1.5% 2022 32,010

LIBOR" + 1.5% ZEICF

/ fRBER1TRIZEHF S ([LIBOR])
2 EREENER GZ RITRE SR TEEERE S

2 LAETTRELIE

AEEE TROTER DRI EGIRELER G
MEER T —F Rk —F+_A=+—
BRETERERGEATBMRRARSELERD
EIE |7 A =Bt mGETR = BRI e B = =
B M REIREREERAZZERBE
ZEERREERRR - AEE 2 ET B RITERA
R—FEREE -

(a) REBEETRAEXRSBUOAEEERETES
6,034,000/ 7T (= F = —4 : 6,862,000 7T) (Fi &k
14) AW E © R (i) B IR T IRITHIF3K 31,522,000
BIT(=—ZF = —4F : 32,100,00087T) (K5 20) fEE I o

) RZBDZF+-A=+—H RITEREERDAE
435,983,000/ 70 (= F = — £ : 32,010,000 1) )
e (AXITTATE) ©
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25. DEFERRED TAX 25.

134

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during
the year are as follows:

i AERTH

BELERIARBENEERFANZESHNT

Deferred tax liabilities EEMIEAE
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
related Revaluation Withholding
depreciation of properties taxes Total
MERERB
BEFE BEEYE FEHIBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2021 N - —F
—H—H (27) (8,151) (13,873) (22,051)
Deferred tax credited/ RERREBZRTAS

(charged) to profit or (308 B R IERL 18

loss during the year (M45E10)

(note 10) 2 219 (2,541) (2,301)
Exchange realignment B 5 A 2E - (236) - (236)
At 31 December 2021 A= ==

and 1 January 2022 +-—A=+—8xX

.=
—A—H (6) (8,168) (16,414) (24,588)
Deferred tax charged RE AR Bz HIBR B9

to profit or loss during EIERIE (FI5E10)

the year (note 10) (4) (89) (1,796) (1,889)
Exchange realignment PEE 3 38 B - 695 - 695
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F

+—-—A=+—H (10) (7,562) (18,210) (25,782)
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

25. EIEFIE (%)
FRERIBEEE

Depreciation  Provision for

Provision in excess inventories Other
for accrued of related and trade deductible
staff welfare  depreciation and bills temporary
costs allowance receivables differences Total
RERES
RIABIRHN HEBRER EWFHER H Aty AR
BAEE nERE EREERE BhER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THET T THT
At 1 January 2021 i ey R =] 2,690 2,561 1,509 3,115 9,875
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ FAF MR BT A/ (F1%) 8

profit or loss during the year BT (MFE10)

(note 10) (266) 236 55 (264) (239)
Exchange realignment 0 5 3% 75 79 45 88 287
At 31 December 2021 and RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

1 January 2022 k=F-—%#—F—H 2,499 2,876 1,609 2,939 9,923
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ AERREREE A/ (F1B) 8

profit or loss during the year EEHE (M 10)

(note 10) 486 343 324 (940) 213
Exchange realignment X % (231) (257) (136) 212) (836)
At 31 December 2022 NZE-—&+-fA=1+—H 2,754 2,962 1,797 1,787 9,300

At 31 December 2022, the Group had tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of HK$5,449,000 (2021: HK$5,449,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of a subsidiary in Hong Kong in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the tax losses as they have arisen in a
subsidiary that has been loss-making for some time and it
is currently not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

RZBE_—_F+-_A=+—8 ' ' ~&BHFRETE
2 T A B 185,449,000 T(Z & = — F ¢
5,449,000 T) + A] 4R B A (B S E 5 1R
KB BHB AR 2 KRR ERT @A o MARFEZE
HEBSERREERIBEE RAABBMIERE
BLHREEHE BHEESEEREAITER
BOAA LR A B AIEEIERE 2 BREE
FZHIBAR °
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25.

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable to
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

EEBIE ()

EERREE(B)

RIBPBEEEMEEOE - R B ARSI HSMNE
REGERBIREETIKEREE - AR
10% AT « ERER —FTZT/N\F—F—HiE
AR WERR—FTEF+_A=1t—REW
&X - WP B R EEIMNYEERNREAERETE
B - BIFIRBEM TR R HA o AR
AEBENBERS% © Bt - ZFERF EAMAK
YHWHBARR —TENE-A-RRELN
BN DIRE B - NEBEABRTEI o

AR BAEBRIRN I B BB SRR ©

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRA
Shares g 2021
—E-—4F
HK$'000
FETT
Authorised: JERE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 10,000,000,000 f% &% 0.01 B 7T
HK$0.01 each SRS 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EERTRERE
240,000,000 ordinary shares of 240,000,000 & &f%0.01 57T
HK$0.01 each EORB Y 2,400

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital
during the year.
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27.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group'’s operations. The Scheme became
effective on 18 November 2014 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for ten years
from that date.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates, is required to be approved by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any grant
of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or
any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company's shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, is subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within the date as specified in the offer letter issued by the
Company, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of any
option granted under the Scheme is determined by the
board of directors in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years after it has
been granted.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of directors at its absolute discretion, but may not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

27.

B

AR R IERAERT Bl ([T 8] ) LA AR &
BEBELERNAER2BERHERD IR
B Z8R—T-OF+—A+ N \BEXR - K
FEEEHHIERT - DA BZ B R TFR%E
A

AARBESR  TETHRABRTIERR @ HfE
MEECHBEATROERNBRERESET
FATEFORE - TAEE - b REM
T EAHRE - MAREERERRIBILIFATT
B MEARFSAZIHBRALRONEMARE
Pt BB AN BHEMRFEE TR E90.1% -
FARB(RBARBROREFL BHHKTE)
BESABRTANRRANSRSERIRNELL
o IAEE -

EHBBEZ SOThRBEARSATNEL 2
B REAFIR B RREBS N 1 BT B
(B - 1R18 %3 BIT5  K0 FE TREAR AR K077 12
BEEFRREET  EARERRERBLE
T EITHE -

BREZTEEHEFERRETE - ETEER
TH&EE  ()VARRBROHREH B AU T
B ()ARRRODREEER L AT RES %
A2 miE - Ri)imHiEb Az mE -
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRAELT 8 (8)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRERER TRHE ARRKRSINBRERS

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are
set out in the Report of the Directors.

No share options were granted during the years ended 31

ERZZHER -

AATBBREFSZEZHBRARETERE °

HE-_ZT—_—

December 2022 and 2021 and no share options under the IEFE ﬁﬁ&ﬁfiﬁﬁ%ﬁx% ﬁ'ﬁﬁ’\_iii
Scheme were outstanding as at 31 December 2022 and RZZT=—F+="A=+—8H  ZTaI THERE
2021, P 1R RATHEE
28. RESERVES 28. f#f&E
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements RAFEREANFE ANEBREGEEREEH
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the TE2FRMIERERETNREIZENGAERE
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 72 ®o
to 73 of the financial statements.
Capital reserve EXR#E
The capital reserve represents the capital contribution from ERFREREESERRBEL T BBRRR
Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung by way of a REFCGETHTE RN E EPTIE R FEIE AR
waiver of shareholders’ loan and the difference between mAREE 2 R Z5E o
the consideration and the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest acquired.
29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29. HLEBE&RERMEE
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) METHELENEESD
activities
2022 —E-F
Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
sTEBITHEM HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-_—_F—HF—H 32,010 2,190
Changes from financing cash flows F&IR &R EEH) 3,973 (1,703)
New leases HE =
Interest expense FBRHX =
Interest paid included in BREESERERENDMFE
operating cash flows
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H 35,983
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

29. MERERERMTE @)

(a) BMEFDHELENEREEH (B)

2021 —E-—4F
Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
AT EIRITERK HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FAT
At 1 January 2021 N-ZE—_—%F—H—H 5,548 2,545
Changes from financing cash flows gt &R &7 = & 26,462 (1,681)
New leases HHE = 1,326
Interest expense FERX - 95
Interest paid included in PRELZRERENEMNFL
operating cash flows = (95)
At 31 December 2021 N-EBE-_—F+_-_A=+—H 32,010 2,190

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

(b) HERRSR
HERRSROFARSREROT

2021
TEE T —%E
HK$'000
FAT

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

R EEA
BMERA

95
1,681

1,776

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$2,058,000 (2021: HK$1,326,000) and
HK$2,058,000 (2021: HK$1,326,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for certain
properties.

(0 EXRFEBERS
RER  AEEHRE TUENEELHS
FRAEEELRHEABNIERERED
752,058,000/ (=& ——4F : 1,326,000
It ) &2,0580008 t(=—F = — F:
1,326,000/ 7T) °
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30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings, which are secured
by certain assets of the Group, are included in note 24 to
the financial statements.

31.

32.

140

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

30.

31.

EEEH
BRAREERITERCATEE S TEEFEER)
MRS - CEAMTERERME24

i
RIS - AEEAATERRSE :

2021
B —F
HK$'000
FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B ARBME -
Construction and purchases of items ERAEEYE  BEX
of property, plant and equipment FEIE R 1,577

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) The Group had the following transactions with a
related party during the year:

32. BEARS
(a) AEBERENEFHTRTTIIES

2021
rote ~ HK$'000
ek T
A related company: BB A T
Lease liabilities paid ENHEARE 0 1,776
Note: Bt

@)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
rentals were charged by Yantek Electronics Company Limited
("Yantek”), a related company of the Group, owned as to
33% by Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 34% by Mr. Chan Yan
Wing, who are the directors of the Company, and 33% by
Ms. Chan Yan Sam, the sister of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and
Mr. Chan Yan Wing, in accordance with the tenancy
agreements entered into between the Group and Yantek.

Interest on lease liabilities of HK$73,000 (2021: HK$95,000)
and depreciation of right-of-use assets of HK$1,692,000
(2021: HK$1,692,000) were recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2022 in respect of the lease
arrangements.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022

(i) HE-_T-_—FR-_ZFT-_—F+=-A=+—H
IHEE - BEREFERAR([BE]) (RERK
BEAR - BRBEN AL - REKEL (BEA
ARANFER) KRB L+ (BB XKL RKE
X ERMER) 2 BIHEE 33%  34% [ 33% 1
7% ) AR IR AN R (B B BB AT 37 /9 & 1 MR AR
4o

BE_T_—_&#+_A=+—HItEE O
REERHFNHEEAERL73,008x(=ZF
Z—F:950008 L) RIEAEEERE
1,692,000/ 7T (=& = —4F : 1,692,000 T) °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Other transaction with a related party
A director of the Company received a sales
commission of HK$4,356,000 (2021: HK$4,377,000)
for his services provided to the Group during the
year based on 3%-12% (2021: 3%-12%) of the

transaction amounts.

32. EBARE (&)

(b)

BB ETHEMRS

FR ARA—REZFARAEBREER
7% S S B £4,356,00008 T (==
——% :4,377,000/87T) * ©EIIRER
SEEN3I%E12% (ZE=—F :3% &
12%) T & -

() Compensation of key management () FAEBEFEEBASHHEE:
personnel of the Group:
2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHET
Short term employee benefits REEERT 16,204
Post-employment benefits 54
Total compensation paid to key ENEEEEAEN
management personnel 16,258

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial

statements.

(d) Particulars of the amount due to a related company

are as follows:

(d)

EERTETBABHTME—FHIFR
R HRKRMES -

FENRERE R R FORFBEANT ¢

2021
R TR —E
HK$'000
FAET
Lease liabilities due to a related company JEfS BB AR E A G
(note 32(a)(i)) (MF3E32(a)()) 2,190

The related party transaction in respect of note 32(a)(i)
above also constitutes a continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

bl P 5 32(a)(i) 2 BE B 75 32 5 TR AE X LT AR A
FUVABREZHEMERS °
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33.

142

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

33. REREINEMITA

BEHESRTARBREMNRNREERIILT

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade and bills receivables
Financial assets included in

prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

2022
—_=E__
HK$"000
FHT
HHREE
BB HEK AT EMNIISEE ¢
5 REWGIE K RN E IR 212,778
SFTATER A - RE REHAM
FEWFIBH B E
506
B RER 31,522
BeEMESEEY 377,555

622,361

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income:
Equity instrument designated as such
upon initial recognition

BAFER AR MEE RS

M BEE

BRI TR

fRET A

4,019

626,380

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

MBRE

BEHERATIBRNT B RIE -

BN F0R

AR BN RIB K BT B

S BE
At RERTTER

HERE

103,346

34,243
35,983
2,545

176,117
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2021

T —HF
HK$'000
FET

256,740

720
32,100
272,342

561,902

4,440

566,342

138,006
33,885

32,010
2,190

206,091
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERMTANAFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:

AEESRTANKFEERAHE(RAERE
AFESERENEETARIN) BT

Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AFE
2021 2021
—EE = —ER e =
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Financial asset BBEE
Financial asset at fair value  1ZAF(EETA
through other Hih2mikEs
comprehensive income WIS & E 4,440 4,440
Financial liabilities B asE
Interest-bearing bank AT BERITIE K
borrowings 32,010 32,010

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals
reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments or
the effect of discounting is not material.

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the chief financial officer analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors review
the results of the fair value measurement of financial
instruments for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of interest-bearing borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

EEEDHE RehkBReEEY EERE
o BHRWHBENERRE  EHRMNFIA
SEATRRNFIR - He REMERTIRNM B EE
ARt AR MR SRR B EBNP AR
MATEAEREESEWES  FERERZ
ETAREHAZIHRERZEL TEK o

AEBEMBREARERTERT AR FEFE
MEERRIEF - REWREEH - UBEELSNE
BMTAMNEBEEEZS YETHEMANEREA
BE - BFRFREVBHREEHNERTIARTE
FTERER o

MBEERBENRFEDRZIARBRH
BREFOTRZ(ETBEZAHBREE) T
FE RS BASR - MEt A FEBDERIAT
TERBR

AHRERNDFEDZARRUGER - EERR
RFSHFERNTANRITER X - BIRBEHR
KB REHNTAFE -
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERMIANDAFERATFERRE)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investment, PMIFLMRERENATE  ~AEBERESE
management of the Group has estimated the fair value of REEMEEGARENLATE BErEEER
the investment using an asset-based approach as its major —EREEAVEMBEBAREHREARERSD
asset is a property held for self-use and the investee is yet BFFEESATHEREMTE - ZWENEEDR
to have sufficient earnings history to support the use of FARENFZEREARZ ATE - AEEREE
other approaches. The value of this property is adjusted to AR EEFERREATE -

its fair value at the end of each reporting period for the
purpose of determining the Group’s share of adjusted net
asset value and fair value of the investment.

Fair value hierarchy REEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIFASEEMTANATEFEER

hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTHARBNAFEFE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs Total
ERWE 2 BEAUEE EAFUHE
wE BABE mABE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—#R%) (=) (EB=%)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET F&T THET TERT
Asset measured at BAFEFE
fair value: HEE :
At 31 December 2022 R-IEBE-—F
+=—B=+—H

Financial asset at fair value Z2A (&5 A
through other 2wl
comprehensive income BB 75 & B

At 31 December 2021 MN-ZTEE-——F
+=A=+—8
Financial asset at fair value %A F{EzT A
through other Hth 2 E U E
comprehensive income B 5B B - = 4,440 4,440

144 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS R M AL

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=+—H

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
A significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investee’s investment property would result in a significant

increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the unlisted equity
investment.

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

34.

TEMITENATFERIFERR®)

AFEBR ()
BERESRNBEWE L DT @A R
/i) & BBk LR IEIRE 2 AFEA
B, (D) -

RERNE=BH R FEFSEBMNT

2021
—E-—4F
HK$'000
FHTT
Financial asset at fair value through BEAFEFAEMER
other comprehensive income WIS & E
— unlisted: —2l= [en ¢
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 4,311
Fair value loss recognised in other FE A 2 T M 2R T AR A
comprehensive income NEEEE (67)
Exchange realignment b 5 AR 196
At the end of year FER 4,440

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2021:
Nil).

KRB —_FF+_A=+—HBHR=ZZT=_—F+=
A=+—8 AEEVEFRAFEFENY
warmE-

FN RUBEEMS  B—AEFE K HHM
EEHERNTEFTENER - E=RINEE ASE
H((ZT—F : &)
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERMIANDAFERATFERRE)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) REEEH(E)

Fair value measurement using
EAUTEABEN L FENE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERmE  BEATERE EATTER
HE WABE WARE et
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—4) (B=4) (B=&)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THET THERT THET FHET

Liabilities for which fair HEALENESE :
values are disclosed:

At 31 December 2022 R-IEBE-—F
+=—BA=+—H
Interest-bearing bank STRRITHER
borrowings
At 31 December 2021 RZE——4F
+=—HA=+—H
Interest-bearing bank sHERITER
borrowings - 32,010 - 32,010
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BiiREEREEHERBEK

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on interest-bearing bank borrowings
with floating interest rates).

AEETIZSMTATZERRNELE -

AEESRTEEANTEZRBRAFEER 5
BREE  EERRERBDECRR EESEH
FREAEEEESEEZERROBE  MkS
BURBEA T o

A 2= @by
AEEHHMSNEEHNER T BEAEE
FEEN ROE BIRTTENER -

TREL BB PR ERITERTZE

HNREEA LB EHOBRE

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

E3iigm, BBt A1 2

(Hd)  #Em ORD)

HK$'000
FB

2022 —E-=

United States dollars =T QL)
United States dollars =T 180
2021 —E_—F

United States dollars == 50 (160)
United States dollars =T (50) 160
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

148

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Those
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
The Group’s main operating subsidiaries are located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China and the Group'’s sales and
purchases were mainly conducted in HK$, RMB and US$.

The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future
exchange rates of the RMB could vary significantly from
the current or historical exchange rates as a result of the
changes in the PRC foreign currency policy. The exchange
rates may also be affected by economic developments and
political changes domestically and internationally, and the
demand and supply of the RMB. The appreciation or
devaluation of RMB against HK$ and US$ may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from
US$ and HK$ denominated financial instruments). There is
no impact on the Group's equity except on the retained
profits.

35.

MBEREEBFEREEK®)

\
)

pii’

SNEE LB

AEEHRRZEERER - ZFRBFRNEES
AR EM N IAEEB DN EIEETES - &
SENTIELEMBRAMUREERPEAM
MASENEEXIZNET ARBRETE
e

AR IEA R LIBEE o ARBHRREER]
RERARPEIMNERKZEMER AT SBEEE
BRAHA o R JRAI 5 BRSNS B R K I
RBBURARBORRAZE - AREIET
RETAEXREXEHARB 2REREE
REE e

TRIVRA TS BIRA K BERBADG M (R B A
BILEAETHENSRITR) BARKEXRHER
REAREE(RtMBZRERTE) R
B o RIRBENSN  AERERSHEZITE -

2022 —E_CF

If HK$ weakens against RMB
If HK$ strengthens against RMB

BT AR T B
BT AARYE ET

If US$ weakens against RMB
If US$ strengthens against RMB

=TT ARBE T B
HETHAARYE T

2021

If HK$ weakens against RMB
If HK$ strengthens against RMB
If US$ weakens against RMB
If US$ strengthens against RMB

B8

BT ARBE T B
A THAARYE £
HETHARE T
fHXTHE AR £t

5 (4)
() 4
5 (670)
(5) 670
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless
other information is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

assets.

At 31 December 2022

Trade and bills receivables*

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
— Normal**

Pledged deposits
— Not yet past due

Cash and cash equivalents
— Not yet past due

B 5 BRI K
eSS
FFATBMRIE - e
K EL A FE WK RRIR Y
WBEE
_IET%‘-**
BHEMIFR
— K@
RekBReEEY
— REH

Stage 1

P ER 1
HK$°000

TER

506
31,522

377,555

409,583

MHEREERERBEE®)

FERR

& B ) 5 R B ER
TRETRTZA=1t—8  ERAKEEERK
ROEEERMABNESEERR(ZZ2ER
BERRER - RIFFEMBETLETVERA
HBENNARER) RERBEERIE - 270 %
BRUWHEENRERE -

R=®==F+=A=+-H

Lifetime ECLs

EHENFERE

Simplified
Stage 2 Stage3 approach Total
(2] PEEz3 L% #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THERT FTHERT THERT THET

217,602 PAVE )

506
31,522

377,555

217,602 627,185
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.

150

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

At 31 December 2021

MBEREEBFEREEK®)

EERBE (&)
R= AR KRR (E)

R-ZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1216 A
TEHA
EEEE > HBEHREEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEER1 F&ER 2 PEER 3 b st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT FHET FHT THT
Trade and bills receivables* B ZRMFIE R
e = = = 260,050 260,050
Financial assets included in AR - Re
prepayments, deposits and N oA FE WA IR Y
other receivables B EE
— Normal** = ek &% 720 - - - 720
Pledged deposits [mEiwEN
— Not yet past due — RmH 32,100 - - - 32,100
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY
— Not yet past due — Ry 272,342 - - - 272,342
305,162 - - 260,050 565212
* For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the * SAREEEASEERENE S ERZIE R EKEE

simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

x* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BiiREEREBEREEK (&)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which
comprise trade and bills receivables, pledged deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, and financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 41.2%
(2021: 37.3%) and 73.0% (2021: 63.7%) of the Group’s
trade and bills receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and five largest customers, respectively.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings. The Group’s policies are to regularly
monitor the current and expected liquidity requirements,
and to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and available banking facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group'’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

FEERR (&)
AEBUBKEE(RREESERAERERE
% BEAED  REeRBESEEYARIIATE
NFRIE - e R EMRERRIE 2 IEEE) NE
ERBREREFHELN  FRARREEERZSE
TAKRAEE -

BEFE/HFHEREEEREAR - RREH
K AEEEETEEETRAR  AALASEE
SEBGFIERERZEES DRIH42% (=ZF
— — £ :373%) K73.0%( = T = — F:
63.7%) B AL BEZARAREF °

REBEERER
REEWERANRBTERERESNBE
MEERBEY Y T - AEBOEEATHERE
AREMRBESER - URREARTHES
R RATAEITRE LA EERRRERE
SER -

ARE BRI EHRRIE A QRBRRA RO
BEZHMRIT

On  Less than 1to5
demand 1 year years Total
REREE LSR-F —Z5HF st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THET THT THET THER
2022 —E-CE
Trade payables B S ENFIE 103,346 103,346
Financial liabilities included in AR MR RES B
other payables and accruals NEEaE 34,243 34,243

Interest-bearing bank borrowings ~ stESRITE R
Lease liabilities HEEE

= 35,983
1,660 2,650

35,983 139,249

176,222
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. Bi#RMEEBEERBIR (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESEM(E)
On Less than 1t05
demand 1 year years Total
RERER DPR—F —ZhEF et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHAT THT
2021 —E--f
Trade payables 2S5 EMNHRIE - 138,006 = 138,006
Financial liabilities included in FAEMENTIERESER
other payables and accruals NEEEE = 33,885 = 33,885
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  FHEIRITIER 32,010 — — 32,010
Lease liabilities HEERE - 1,686 580 2,266
32,010 173,577 580 206,167
Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings are term TRRITERTRREEHER  EERBETE
loans of which the loan agreements contain a repayment HARENER 2GR - 48 T IRITEAG MR A
on demand clause giving the banks the unconditional right AEMRFEERER - Bt - 3t B E BiOR
to call in the loans at any time and therefore, for the T RERDNEE R RERKER] -
purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount is
classified as “on demand”.
Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not MARBU LG - EFWTREZEFSHEEK
believe that the loans will be called in their entirety within RTZEARBHRER  MESRAZERGIE
12 months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid BRI A ER - WIEN A ERER
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the 7 AEBRMERREEE B 2 MBAR
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering: WEENEH  RASKBE LA —HIRRBEHEERK
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval BER - REOEARERERIER 2 ERHE
of the financial statements; the lack of events of default, o ETHARERERIER S RIEDLT
and the fact that the Group has made all previously HRBAR - ZEEF RIS AR 2 B A5
scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the ST
terms of the loans which contain a repayment on demand
clause, the maturity profile of those loans as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments and ignoring the effect of any
repayment on demand clause, is as follows:
Less than 1 year
DR—F
HK$'000
FHET
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 36,526
At 31 December 2021 NR-_E-_—F+=-_A=+—H 32,078
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BIZXREMEEEEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform FEEHE

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had certain RIE-—ER-"T-——F+_F=+—H ' &
interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in US$. SEBEETUAETFHENT BRITER - ZFEL
The interest rates of these instruments are based on the BEMFRDEAGBERTTRERS  EERN ==
LIBOR, which will cease to be published after 30 June T=FRNA=TRHERELIEEM -

2023.

The information about financial instruments based on an ERIBITRIZER BB RBEDEREEF X
interbank offered rate that had yet to transition to an eI AEERNAT

alternative benchmark rate is as follows:

As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_F+-A=+—-8H
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEIRITIER

— United States dollar LIBOR — EMBERITRERE

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+=-A=+—H

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
— carrying value

FEITESREE
— REE
HK$'000
FET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T RBRITER
— United States dollar LIBOR — ETmBERITRIZESR S 32,010
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

154

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or
raise new capital from its investors. The Group is required
to comply with certain externally imposed capital
requirements set out in certain of its bank loan
agreements/bank facility letters. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
are as follows:

35.

MBEREEBFEREEK®)

ExEE
AEBEREANTIEBNRRERNEBMER
SEQER S YRARBOERLE - UXHF
EBRFMEZABIREE °

AN B [ PR AR BN B B T B IR A AR R AE
HEAE - RERHRAEERRE  AEE RS
BENFRENREKMBREEZENER - K&
B/RESTE TRITESR RS RITBE AR
SIEE TONGPEIMMEARRE - RBE_T——
Ft+-A= + AR+ _A=+—
AIEEE  EEEANBR BRRIBFHES
F o

AEFZEEAGBHER(ANAEBRAEES)
BERER - BEHRETSRITER -

RERRZEEQGBELXRFEINOT :

2021

—E-—F

HK$'000

FHEIT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings STESRITER 32,010
Total debt RIETS 32,010
Total equity Bk 652,901
Gearing ratio BEAMELE 0.05

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022



Notes to Financial Statements

BRI

31 December 2022 —ZFE—-——F+_-_H=+—H

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36.

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

R R AR FR

RERARARBRF AR RNERT

2022 2021
—E-= —E %
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FEREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBRFMIEE 1
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries AR ENGIE S 112,109 91,590
Prepayments BT FRIAE 309 295
Cash and cash equivalents B RBEEEED 301 316
Total current assets MENEERE 112,719 92,201
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables and accruals HEM N RIE N ETE B 1,132 1,038
Due to a subsidiary FES—RE B A R IE 46,640 27,917
Total current liabilities mE B EERE 47,772 28,955
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFE 64,947 63,246
Net assets BEEE 64,948 63,247
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITRA 2,400 2,400
Reserves (note) EE (fYsE) 62,548 60,847
Total equity B 64,948 63,247
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

37.

156

THE COMPANY (continued)

36.

ARATMBEMRRE (&)

Note: B eE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARIRERENT
Share
premium Accumulated
account losses Total
R R E R By ] st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHT
At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-_—%—H—H 62,609 (3,819) 58,790
Profit and total comprehensive income B A M| B 2 T e s A RE
for the year - 16,457 16,457
2020 final dividend —ECTERARE = (14,400) (14,400)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-BE-_—F+-_A=+—H8k
—E_—#—H—H 62,609 (1,762) 60,847
Profit and total comprehensive income G A M N 2 TE e AR FE
for the year - 16,101 16,101
2021 final dividend —E—FREKRE = (14,400) (14,400)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZTE-_—_F+-_HA=+—H 62,609 61) 62,548
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 37. #t/Eti#Rk

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2023.
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